

# Optimizing active casefinding for tuberculosis

Implementation lessons from South-East Asia



# **Optimizing active casefinding for tuberculosis**

Implementation lessons from South-East Asia



Optimizing active case-finding for tuberculosis: Implementation lessons from South-East Asia

ISBN: 978-92-9022-848-6

#### © World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition."

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. Optimizing active case-finding for tuberculosis: Implementation lessons from South-East Asia. New Delhi: World Health Organization, Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

# Contents

Foreword					
Acknowledgements					
Abbreviations and acronyms					
Glo	ssai	ry of terms	ix		
Exe	cuti	ve summary	xi		
1.	Background				
2.	Methodology				
3.	Results				
	A.	Population groups, algorithms used and implementation of ACF	10		
	В.	Advantages of ACF	20		
	C.	Treatment outcomes of patients identified by ACF	21		
	D.	Implementation lessons	22		
	E.	Costs of ACF	29		
4.	Discussion		33		
	Α.	Choice of algorithms	34		
	B.	Population groups	34		
	C.	Factors that influence the guidance for planning or implementation of ACF	41		
	D.	Advantages of ACF and its cost-effectiveness	43		
	E.	Treatment outcomes	43		
	F.	Considerations for ACF	44		
5.	Monitoring of ACF activities 4		45		
6.	Recommendations for implementing ACF 47				
7.	Limitations 51				
Annexures 5					
References 7					

### Foreword



More than 4.3 million people in the WHO South-East Asia Region are estimated to have contracted TB in 2019, of which around 78% have been provided quality TB care. The Region has in recent years made substantial progress in increasing access to quality TB services, with the goal of ensuring at least 90% of TB patients complete TB treatment. Despite Regionwide efforts to maintain TB services throughout the COVID-19 response, the Region has recorded a 20–40% drop in TB notification in 2020.

All countries in the Region are committed to ending TB by or before 2030, which is one of the Region's eight Flagship Priorities. To catch up and reclaim the advantage against TB, countries must detect more

cases and detect them early. Prevalence surveys in the Region and beyond show that a substantial proportion of TB patients may not visit a health facility because of no or mild symptoms. Without outreach efforts, vulnerable populations and marginalized groups may never be reached.

Active case-finding (ACF) will help minimize avoidable delays in diagnosis and initiation of treatment and will reduce the risk of unfavourable treatment outcomes, health sequelae, and adverse social and economic consequences. Active screening reduces TB transmission in a household, workplace, school or other community setting by removing people with prevalent disease and shortening the duration of infectiousness. When active screening is combined with appropriate diagnostic testing, policy-makers can enhance the uptake of TB preventive treatment (TPT) for people without TB disease, but who are at risk of progression.

Implementing ACF is expensive. However, if carefully planned and implemented, it will be cost effective and will support last mile efforts to reduce TB incidence. When used in conjunction with the 2021 WHO guidelines on systematic screening for tuberculosis disease, this publication – which is based on a review of publications on ACF from across the Region, in addition to several countries with similar settings – will help Member States plan and monitor ACF activities. I urge all stakeholders to appropriately leverage and apply the information contained herein, as together we continue to drive rapid and sustained progress towards the TB-free Region and world to which we are committed.

tra

Dr Poonam Khetrapal Singh Regional Director WHO South-East Asia Region

## Acknowledgements

Work on this document, titled "Optimizing active case-finding for tuberculosis: implementation lessons from South-East Asia", has been led by Dr Alka Agarwal Singh, consultant with the WHO Regional Office. The document was peer-reviewed by Dr Jacob Creswell, focal point for TB REACH projects in the Stop TB Partnership, Geneva; Dr Jamie Tonsing, Regional Director, The Union's South-East Asia Office, Delhi; and Dr Vineet Chadha, Senior Epidemiologist, National Tuberculosis Institute, Bangalore. Feedback on the document was provided by the national TB programmes of Bhutan, Nepal and Sri Lanka. All WHO country offices in the Region also contributed to the development of this document.

We acknowledge the role of the staff of the TB unit of the WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia in bringing out this publication, under the overall guidance of Dr Tjandra Yoga Aditama, Acting Director for Communicable Diseases at the Regional Office. We also acknowledge the role of the Reports and Documentation Unit in the Regional Office for editing the manuscript.

## Abbreviations and acronyms

ACF	active case-finding
ASHA	Accredited Social Health Activist
CAD4TB	computer-aided detection for tuberculosis
CHW	community health worker
CI	confidence interval
CN	case notification
CNR	case notification rate
CV	community volunteer
CXR	chest X-ray
DALY	disability-adjusted life years
DST	drug sensitivity testing
Global Fund	Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria
GIS	geographical information system
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
IGRA	interferon gamma release assay
INR	Indian rupees
LED	light-emitting diode
LED-FM	light-emitting diode fluorescence microscope
LTBI	latent TB infection
M&E	monitoring and evaluation
MDR-TB	multidrug-resistant tuberculosis
NCD	noncommunicable disease
NGO	nongovernmental organization
NIRT	National Institute for Research in Tuberculosis
NNS	number needed to screen
NNT	number needed to test
NTP	National Tuberculosis Programme
OD	operational district
PCF	passive case-finding
PLHIV	persons living with HIV

PPM	public–private mix
PPP	public–private partnership
PPV	positive predictive value
RNTCP	Revised National TB Control Programme (now called National TB Elimination Programme)
RR-TB	rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis
SEA	South-East Asia
ТВ	tuberculosis
TB REACH	multilateral funding mechanism of Stop TB Partnership
TPT	tuberculosis preventive treatment
TST	tuberculin skin test
US	United States
WHO	World Health Organization
Xpert	GeneXpert MTB/RIF

## **Glossary of terms**

Active tuberculosis case-finding (ACF) is synonymous with systematic screening for active TB in at-risk populations, although it normally implies screening that is implemented outside of health facilities. *However, for the purpose of this evidence synthesis, the interventions generally conducted outside of health facilities were considered, such as screening of populations in community or specific settings.* 

**Close contact** is a person who is not in the household but shares an enclosed space, such as a social gathering place, workplace or facility, for extended periods during the day with the index case during the 3 months before commencement of the current treatment episode (2).

**Diagnostic procedure** comprises any (combination of) method(s) used to determine the presence of TB infection (e.g. tuberculin skin test [TST]) or to confirm active TB (e.g. sputum examination or a rapid molecular test) in an individual.

**Enhanced TB case-finding** uses health information or education to provide information about what type of health-seeking behaviour is appropriate when people experience symptoms of TB; this type of case-finding may be combined with improving access to diagnostic services. Enhanced case-finding may or may not be combined with screening.

**Household contact** is a person who shared the same enclosed living space for one or more nights or for frequent or extended periods during the day with the index case during the 3 months before commencement of the current treatment episode.

**Initial screening** is the first screening test, examination or other procedure applied in the population eligible for screening.

**Number needed to screen (NNS)** is the number of persons who need to undergo screening in order to diagnose one person with active TB. It is the number of persons screened divided by the number of persons diagnosed with TB (roughly the inverse of the prevalence).

**Passive TB case-finding** is a person-initiated pathway to TB diagnosis involving the following steps: (1) a person experiencing symptoms that he or she recognizes as serious; (2) the person having access to and seeking care, and presenting at an appropriate health facility; (3) a health worker correctly assessing whether the person fulfils the criteria for presumptive TB, and (4) the successful use of a diagnostic algorithm with sufficient sensitivity and specificity. Passive case-finding may involve an element of systematic

screening if the identification of people at risk for TB is done systematically for all people seeking care in a health facility or clinic.

Repeat screening: rescreening in the same population at a given interval.

**Risk groups**: any group of people in which the prevalence or incidence of TB is significantly higher or presumed to be higher than in the general population. This classification may be based on surveys conducted within the country or another country with similar settings.

**Screening test, examination or procedure for active TB:** a test, examination or other procedure for active TB that distinguishes people with a high likelihood of having active TB from people who are highly unlikely to have active TB. A screening test is not intended to be diagnostic. People with positive results on a screening test should undergo diagnostic evaluation.

**Second screening:** a second screening test, examination or other procedure applied to persons whose results were positive during the initial screening.

**Systematic screening for active TB** is defined as the systematic identification of people with presumptive tuberculosis (TB) in a predetermined target group, using tests, examinations or other procedures that can be applied rapidly. It is provider-initiated (1).

### **Executive summary**

The WHO South-East Asia (SEA) Region bears 44% of the global incidence of tuberculosis (TB). The average decline in annual incidence of 2.3% is much below the estimated annual decline of 10% needed to achieve the End-TB targets. TB case notification has improved over the years, but there is no significant impact on the incidence rate since a large proportion of cases are undiagnosed or in whom diagnosis is delayed. Such cases continue to feed the transmission process. Prevalence surveys conducted in countries such as Bangladesh, Indonesia and the Philippines report that nearly half of the TB patients did not seek any care because they had mild or no symptoms. A recent national prevalence survey in Nepal (2018–2019) showed that more than 70% of TB cases had no reported symptoms but had an abnormal chest X-ray (CXR). Therefore, passive, facility-based case-finding alone is inadequate for assisting national programmes to reach the End-TB targets. Until new breakthroughs in disease prevention occur, significant improvements in case detection and treatment will be essential to reduce the global TB burden.

Active case-finding (ACF) is defined by WHO as systematic screening for active TB, normally outside of health facilities but could also be undertaken at health facilities in a targeted population considered at higher risk of developing TB. The objectives of ACF are (i) targeted case-finding and (ii) prompt initiation of treatment to rapidly cure and render the disease non-infectious.

Considering the challenges faced by countries in implementing ACF activities, a rapid evidence synthesis of the published literature on ACF implementation (referred to as "review" from now on) in the SEA Region and other Asian countries (where the HIV incidence is low or is a concentrated epidemic) in the past 5 years was instituted with the objective of learning lessons that can be applied to countries in the Region.

#### Why ACF

#### Benefits to the community

ACF in household contacts has been shown to reduce disease in adults and infections in children. This review also shows notification of additional TB cases with ACF in other populations from several studies in India and Myanmar. ACF not only identifies TB patients but also those who are eligible for TB preventive therapy (TPT).

#### **Benefits to patients**

Benefits to the patients are manifold. ACF overcomes barriers to access in vulnerable populations, reduces the total costs of diagnosis and treatment, reduces the prevalence of catastrophic costs and overcomes the cost barrier for seeking TB care. ACF is seen as an instrument for reducing the broader socioeconomic consequences of TB.

#### ACF is cost effective when done right

Modelling shows that ACF interventions are highly cost effective, even if the costs of the interventions per case detected appear high. This is because the population-level benefits of ACF accumulate with time as additional cases are prevented. Based on studies that have assessed cost–effectiveness, the evidence review confirms this. It also confirms that the costs of implementing ACF are potentially affordable for national programmes. Further research on cost–effectiveness will need to include the impact of scaled-up preventive therapy, as ACF can identify those are eligible for TPT.

#### Key considerations for the implementation of ACF

Despite the clear benefits, the reported impact of ACF has been variable. A review in 2014 of the first wave of a TB REACH project showed large increases in overall case notifications across 28 projects. Although the majority of the individual projects showed an increase in case notification in the project area, the impact was variable in terms of overall increase in national notification. Some of the projects were not considered to be successful in terms of increase in case notifications. The possible reasons were that the ACF intervention was either not of adequate duration, used less sensitive screening algorithms or because the scale of the intervention was too small to make a significant contribution. There is a felt need for guidance on how to operationalize ACF for efficiency and impact. Member States of the Region have expressed the need for guidance on the operational aspects of ACF to make such activities effective in their local contexts.

This review presents some of the options for optimizing ACF activities to improve case notification based on a review of the evidence in Asia and other middle-income settings in other parts of the Region. The evidence synthesis here is based mostly on ACF activities undertaken in communities outside of health facilities.

#### A. Selection of population groups

According to WHO guidance, groups with a high TB prevalence should be prioritized for ACF. Some groups known to have a high prevalence are household contacts, people living with HIV (PLHIV) and prisoners. The selection of other high-prevalence populations

requires quality baseline prevalence and incidence rates, and a mapping of transmission "hotspots". Choosing the right populations in the right location is critical for successful ACF, and good data are fundamental to making the right choices in terms of population selection. In the absence of prevalence survey data, the available programmatic data can be modelled to identify such population groups.

#### **B. Choice of algorithms**

Inclusion of CXR and WHO-approved rapid molecular diagnostics (including Xpert MTB/ RIF) into the diagnostic algorithm as per WHO screening guidelines increases the yield of TB cases. However, this may also be expensive, forming a major cost centre for ACF activities. Based on a review of expert opinion and feasibility of implementation, the important considerations in choosing an appropriate diagnostic algorithm are as follows:

- 1. the estimated prevalence of TB in the target population group;
- 2. the estimated accuracy of the algorithm;
- 3. the availability of resources both human and financial.

Therefore, programmes may use symptom screening and sputum microscopy in a large population where the prevalence is high (some studies have considered a prevalence of more than 1.5% to be high) and resources are limited. Even in populations with a high prevalence, it would be important to remember that many cases will be missed, which will continue to spread the disease in the community.

An important limitation towards robust recommendations in this area is the small amount of community-based data globally, and in the SEA Region. Availability and recent introduction of new diagnostics also makes comparability of outcomes from earlier studies challenging. Further research is needed to determine the most feasible and cost-effective ACF approaches in different settings.

#### C. Challenges to ACF implementation in the field

While it is important to select the algorithms and population groups carefully, there are certain potential pitfalls during implementation. The yield of ACF can be compromised in the following situations:

- 1. decreased participation of targeted beneficiaries;
- 2. inappropriate/incomplete assessment of symptoms due to the lack of a standard questionnaire and/or inadequately trained staff;
- drop-outs during referral for testing and loss to follow up between treatment initiation and completion;

- 4. inadequate capacity for obtaining a good sample and its appropriate transportation, resulting in a lower yield;
- 5. inadequate laboratory techniques, including preparation and reading of the sputum smear or sample handling, may also lead to a lower yield. Quality assurance of laboratory procedures is therefore important;
- 6. decrease in the overall impact of ACF due to diversion of staff from passive casefinding to ACF;
- 7. delay in treatment initiation leading to poor treatment outcomes of patients found by ACF, which may decrease the cost–effectiveness of ACF.

#### **Recommendations for implementing ACF**

- 1. Increase the efficiency of the process.
  - (a) Prefer on-site availability of diagnostic and treatment initiation services during ACF activities over referral to a health centre to minimize loss to follow up during referral. In case this cannot be arranged, there is a need to ensure that the referral is supported financially and/or there is someone to accompany the person to guide and ensure quick attention at the health facility.
  - (b) Monitor ACF activities using digital and virtual platforms such as a digital registration system to initiate and follow up those initiated on treatment. Digital platforms can also be used to monitor ACF activities for yield and drop-outs and improve future activities.
- 2. Select the appropriate population groups.
  - (a) Prioritize groups with the highest prevalence such as household contacts and those in congregate settings such as prisons, PLHIV, workers exposed to silica and organic textile dust, and the homeless.
  - (b) Analyse programme data and, where available, use prevalence survey data to identify population groups with a high estimated prevalence of, or risk factors for, TB. Modelling transmission dynamics can help with estimating the direct impact of spatial targeting on those screened as well as the indirect impact on transmission.
  - (c) Review previous such activities in the country, which may also help to identify appropriate population groups.
  - (d) Begin with easily identifiable high-risk target groups and then widen the scope of activities as resources and data permit.

3. Address affordability.

Costing should be part of the planning process and include major costs such as screening tests costed according to the tests as per the chosen algorithm, human resources and venue costs, depending on the number of days for which the activity needs to be conducted, costs of logistics and transportation, and patient support costs. Some of the costs, particularly those related to information dissemination and community mobilization among target groups, may be incurred prior to the activity itself but need to be planned for a comprehensive intervention. While deciding on costs, it must also be mentioned here that algorithms that use CXR and GeneXpert, although expensive, have been found to be cost effective in studies that did this analysis.

Some general considerations for addressing affordability are as follows:

- (a) Use algorithms based on CXR as the first screening tool, though these may be costly as compared to algorithms with only symptom screening and sputum microscopy, but are more sensitive and useful in small populations like prisoners.
- (b) Use algorithms with rapid molecular diagnostics in household contacts, as this is a highly sensitive test able to diagnose drug resistance early and would be cost effective.
- (c) When resources are limited, use symptom screening and sputum microscopy in a large population with a high TB prevalence. Clinical screening and diagnosis should be an important component of the screening process. However, if resources permit, CXR may be used as screening tool and GeneXpert as a diagnostic tool.
- (d) Integrate ACF with other health activities in the community, for example, screening for other communicable and noncommunicable diseases as well as for providing TPT in eligible populations.
- (e) Under operational research conditions, consider the use of methods like pooling of sputum samples specifically for patients in whom CXR is normal. While considering pooling of specimens, it should be remembered that the procedure may reduce the number of cartridges but may increase human resource costs and will require accurate documentation and labelling.
- (f) Utilize community resources for information dissemination, mobilization and outreach support.
- (g) Plan for a mid-term review of activities for the yield, analysis of success and failures and course correction, if needed, to maximize output.



The South-East Asia (SEA) Region is home to 44% of the global tuberculosis (TB) incidence. The average decline in annual incidence is 2.3% (*3*), much below the 10% annual decline needed to achieve the End-TB target. Notification has improved over the years, but because of a large proportion of undiagnosed cases and delayed diagnoses that continue to feed the transmission process, the impact on the incidence rate is insignificant. Prevalence surveys in Bangladesh, Indonesia and Philippines showed that 41–48% of patients with symptoms did not seek any care (*4*). In the national prevalence survey in Nepal (2018–2019), more than 70% of TB cases had no reported symptoms but had abnormal chest X-rays (CXRs) (*5*). Until new breakthroughs in disease prevention occur, significant improvements in case detection will be essential to reduce the global TB burden.

WHO guidance states that systematic screening for active TB may be considered for geographically defined subpopulations with a high level of undetected TB (0.5% prevalence or higher), other subpopulations that have poor access to health care, and vulnerable or marginalized groups (1). Active case-finding (ACF) is defined as systematic screening for active TB, normally outside of health facilities. The objectives of ACF are (i) targeted case-finding and (ii) prompt initiation of treatment to rapidly render the patient non-infectious.

The Stop TB Partnership and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) have supported ACF interventions in several countries. A review in 2014 of the first wave of a TB REACH project showed large increases in overall case notification across 28 projects. Although the majority of individual projects showed an increase in case notification in the project area, there was a variable impact in terms of overall increase in national notification. Some of the projects were not considered to be successful in terms of increase in case notifications. The possible reasons were that the ACF intervention was either not of adequate duration, or the scale of the intervention was too small to make a significant contribution (6).

Countries acknowledge the challenge in choosing an ACF intervention that can make a significant contribution to national case notification with the limited funding available. This document does a rapid evidence synthesis of the published literature on ACF implementation in the SEA Region and other Asian countries (where the HIV incidence is low or is a concentrated epidemic) in the past 5 years with the objective of learning lessons that can be applied to countries in SEA. It also presents possible options to national programme managers and senior officials.

#### **Objectives**

At the outset, some of the questions considered were: (i) is ACF worth the resources and, if yes, what is a good method (selection criteria for vulnerable groups, operationalization of ACF, choice of testing algorithms, timing of ACF in relation to programme achievements, etc.), and (ii) are experiences in various countries enough to compile them as implementation guidance?

Therefore, the objectives of the evidence synthesis of ACF studies published in the past 5 years from SEA and other Asian countries were to review the following:

- 1. population groups for which ACF was implemented in countries of the SEA Region;
- 2. diagnostic algorithms used for ACF; consider their costs and feasibility;
- 3. the implementation arrangement: cost; operational feasibility (in terms of staff, time involved and complexity); treatment initiation of identified patients;
- 4. the effectiveness of ACF in reducing the delay in diagnosis, increase in notification, and the benefits to patients and the community;
- based on the above, consider recommendations for selection of population groups for ACF, algorithm for screening and diagnosis, and optimization of the implementation methodology. Provide recommended options for ACF in the SEA Region.



# 2 Methodology

Title, abstract and full article screening were performed. The quality of studies was not assessed. However, community-based trials, where available, were prioritized when making conclusions and recommendations.

A few review papers that gave expert opinions, even when published prior to five years, were read for the full text to increase the understanding on ACF (6-10). Other studies were read for abstracts. This helped in having a broad understanding of ACF globally and in refining the evidence synthesis.

The **research questions** considered were: what is the experience in the SEA Region, and how does it compare with other Asian countries for selection of population groups, algorithms and optimization of implementation?

#### **Process followed**

- Review studies published from SEA and similar settings in the past 5 years on "general ACF" (not among contacts and outpatients) (i) to assess effectiveness in terms of reducing delay in diagnosis, increase in notification, population selection, operationalization; (ii) to get some indication of the resources used where possible; (iii) to assess the programme conditions under which ACF contributes significantly and in which population groups.
- 2. Compare the studies on "general ACF" with studies on ACF among contacts, in health facilities and other identified risk groups (to be considered after findings from the review of general ACF).
- 3. Analyse the ACF methodology used in the Region and results from the Global Fund grant data.
- 4. Have this document peer-reviewed to get further inputs.

Since HIV infection among people is an established risk factor and those infected are an accepted population group for active screening for TB, this population group was excluded from the search to keep the analysis focused on other groups.

#### Search strategy

A comprehensive literature search of publications over the past five years was performed in May 2020 in the following electronic databases: PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews and World Health Organization (WHO) Library. Some more studies were obtained after consulting with WHO experts. Primary studies as well as review studies were included. Search terms used were "active case-finding" and "tuberculosis".

The title search in PubMed gave 53 articles. Some of these were comments, notice for errata and one was a duplicate (online version ahead of print).

- The title and abstract search in PubMed gave 203 studies, which included the 53 studies mentioned earlier. Two additional studies were found.
- The Embase search gave another six studies.
- One old seminal study was reviewed at the suggestion of a WHO expert.

The studies from the SEA Region and other Asian countries were read in full and data were extracted for different population groups to compare the algorithms, yield of cases and operationalization in terms of costs, personnel used, time and unique elements.

After removal of duplicate and irrelevant studies, data for SEA and Asian countries were extracted from **72** studies. Additionally, **14** studies were read for better understanding – background and review studies (ref Table 1 in Annexures).



# 3 Results

Photo credit: Division of Tuberculosis, Department of Disease Control, Ministry of Public Health, Thai

# A. Population groups, algorithms used and implementation of ACF

This section describes the ACF studies in various population groups along with the algorithms used and implementation experiences. The emphasis is on countries in the SEA Region.

The results of all reviewed studies are in the tables for easy reference. Some exemplary studies are described in detail. To understand the implementation arrangements, the reader is advised to refer to the boxes in each section.

Additional cases from the ACF studies are given as either yield of ACF implementation or as the change in notification over past trends or in comparison to other areas.

#### 1. Household contacts

Ten studies available over the past five years were reviewed in detail (refer Table 2 in Annexure for details). Of these, five were from India, one from Indonesia, two from Viet Nam, and one each from Cambodia and the Republic of Korea (11–20). Of these, one study each from India and Viet Nam were on households of patients with multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB).

Three of these 10 studies were community-based trials. These are described in some detail. The first was the ACT2 (Active Case-finding for Tuberculosis) study in Viet Nam, a large, cluster randomized trial at clinics in rural and urban areas of 70 districts of Viet Nam. This was implemented by staff of the National Tuberculosis Programme (NTP). Household contacts were defined as those living with TB patients during the 2 months before the diagnosis. Those who had cough for two weeks, sputum for two weeks, any haemoptysis and CXR suggestive of TB were screened. Sputum microscopy was used for diagnosis. In the control districts, only self-referred patients underwent two sputum examinations and culture. In the intervention districts, household contacts of smear-positive adult TB patients (15 years or older) were invited to the clinics for clinical assessment and chest radiography at baseline and at 6, 12 and 24 months. In the 70 districts, 25 707 household contacts of 10 964 adult TB patients were recruited. In the 36 intervention districts, the rate of registration of TB patients among contacts was much higher as compared to the control districts (180 of the 10 069 contacts were registered as having TB; 1788 cases per 100 000 population) as compared with the control group (110 of 15 638 contacts were registered as having TB; 703 per 100 000).

In Cambodia, a low-income, high-burden country (case notification [CN] of >125/100 000), which had instituted rounds of ACF, a two-year quasi-experimental study was done to compare ACF efforts in 30 operational districts (ODs) with control ODs. Unique elements of this study were (i) selection of all household contacts and symptomatic neighbourhood

contacts of patients *within the past 2 years* because of the belief that some contacts have delayed presentation of TB; and (ii) use of *CXR and symptoms* for screening and *Xpert* for confirmation. The CN increased in the intervention districts (19% for all forms and 10% for bacteriologically confirmed [B+] cases) over the trend-adjusted expected cases and decreased by 2% in the control districts. This *increased CN gradually returned to pre-ACF levels over five to six quarters*. Even though CXR and Xpert were used for diagnosis, which normally increase the cost, the study was found to be *cost effective*.

In the Republic of Korea, household contacts were followed up for more than 2 years and the incidence was 1.1% in contacts, much higher than that in the general population (883 per 100 000 vs 70 per 100 000). The cumulative incidence was 0.5% at 3 months, 0.7% at 6 months, 0.9% at 1 year and 1.1% at 2 years. Since the household contacts diagnosed to have TB within 3 months of the index case were not counted as incident cases, the actual incidence would have been much higher.

In the Republic of Korea, the risk factors associated with TB among contacts were (i) age more than 65 years, and (ii) latent TB infection (LTBI) without treatment. The yield among children was low. Among people with LTBI and without TB preventive therapy (TPT), 4.6% progressed to TB, which is consistent with previous studies estimating that untreated LTBI turns into TB in 5–10% of cases.

*Algorithms used*. CXR was used as a screening tool in the Republic of Korea, India (Chennai and Chhattisgarh), Viet Nam and Cambodia. Xpert was used for diagnosis in Cambodia but culture and drug sensitivity testing (DST) was used in Chennai. The study from Chennai by the National Institute for Research in Tuberculosis (NIRT) showed that CXR as a screening tool for household contacts of pulmonary TB patients had a high sensitivity of 96% (95% confidence interval [CI]: 79.7–99.9) and high specificity of 90.9% (95% CI: 88.1–93.3).

Were additional cases found? Contact investigation contributes to an increase in case notification of all forms of TB. In the ten studies reviewed in this paper, additional cases, all forms, were in the range of 19% (Cambodia) and 63% (Chhattisgarh, India) compared to passive case detection alone. In Viet Nam, the prevalence was 1788/100 000 in household contacts compared to 703/100 000 in the control districts. In the studies from the SEA Region, prevalence among contacts ranged from 1% to 5% (see Table 2). However, under programme conditions where symptomatic contacts are asked to visit the clinic, 15% of the contacts, or worse, 25% of the symptomatic contacts could be lost (Chhattisgarh, India).

#### Implementation of ACF in the household

Community-based trials show that ACF in households leads to an increase in casefinding. In programme conditions, those identified with symptoms may fail to provide samples for diagnosis and the yield might be very low. The Indian studies from Chennai, Chhattisgarh and Kashmir were under programme conditions. In Chhattisgarh, 26% of symptomatic contacts did not come to clinic, implying that household contacts need support for sputum collection and for visiting health facilities.

The Indonesia study engaged community health workers (CHWs) for investigation of household contacts, after providing them with training and incentives. Incentives were also given to household members. The cost per screened household member was US\$ 2 and US\$ 6 for Intervention 1 and Intervention 2, respectively, while for those with TB symptoms, the cost was US\$ 221 and US\$ 808, respectively. The main cost was payment of personnel (Indonesia *(14)*). No person with TB was identified, implying that training and supervision of staff are crucial.

ACF in household contacts of MDR-TB patients. Two studies were available from the 5-year period (18,19). In the India study, 17% of household members had at least one symptom of TB, 34 contacts of 1602 patients were diagnosed to have TB by Xpert, of whom 15 had rifampicin resistance. In Viet Nam, no new case was detected among households, but this study had poor participation and a short duration of follow up.

#### 2. Prisons

Nine studies available from the 5-year period were reviewed (refer Table 3 in Annexure for more details) (21–29). These included studies from all the regions except Europe. Three were from the SEA Region (Bangladesh, India and Thailand), two from Pakistan, one each from Brazil, Ethiopia, Iran and Malaysia (Eastern Mediterranean, Western Pacific regions and Region of the Americas). The prevalence of TB in prisons among these nine studies ranged from 0.13% to 8.5% and in SEA countries, the prevalence ranged from 0.2% in Bangladesh to 2% in Thailand. The genotyping study in Bangladesh estimated the rate of recent transmission during the study period (October 2005–February 2010) as 9.6%. However, when screening on entry and for current inmates was conducted from January 2009 to February 2010, the number of pulmonary TB cases declined significantly.

*Algorithms used*. In the nine studies, screening was done by cough and CXR in Brazil and Thailand, software-aided digital X-ray in both studies from Pakistan, any four symptoms in Malaysia, and chronic cough (2–3 weeks) in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, India and Iran. Xpert was used for diagnosis in Ethiopia, Malaysia and Thailand.

#### **ACF** among prisoners

A study in the Philippines (*please see* under vulnerable and marginalized populations) that used the same algorithm in multiple high-risk groups (urban poor, rural poor, etc.) concluded that prison inmates had a significant association with screening by "any symptom" and a large proportion of abnormal CXR results. A meta-analysis further recommended the use of CXR for screening in prison (*30*).

In Malaysia, where the prevalence was 8.5%, screening by chronic cough would have identified only 25% of the prisoners but any one symptom identified more than twice (59%) the number of prisoners. Here, diagnosis was done by liquid culture and Xpert. In Ethiopia, while microscopy identified only eight patients, Xpert identified an additional 31. Similarly, in Bangladesh, 23% of the patients were smear negative and were identified by sputum culture.

*Implementation of ACF in prisons.* In India, while most prisons had doctors (82%), less than a fifth (18%) had diagnostic services. TB treatment was available in about half (54%) of the prisons. Sixty-five per cent of the prisons had one or more TB patients who were already on treatment before the ACF. Fifty per cent of prisons did screening for TB on entry and 59% of the prisons did regular screening at entry and of the inmates. Prisons with more than 500 prisoners and those doing regular screening were more likely to diagnose TB cases. On the other hand, the smaller subdistrict prisons lacked doctors and were more likely to not do screening.

Several challenges to ACF implementation were documented in the prisons. There may be poor-quality specimens, time-constrained access to the prison and excessive laboratory workload (Thailand). Prisoners could be released before testing (Thailand), or before completing their treatment (Malaysia).

Prisoners may have other infections – 7.5% of the inmates were HIV positive and 11.5% had TB/HIV coinfection (Thailand); 2% of the inmates had MDR-TB (Bangladesh).

#### 3. Persons with diabetes

Three studies available from the 5-year period were reviewed (refer Table 4 in Annexure for further details) (31–33). Two studies were from Pakistan and one from Nepal. In the two studies from Pakistan, one was a pilot study preceding the other. Bidirectional screening was done in a private setting with a large number of patients. The CAD4TB software (computer-aided detection for tuberculosis) increased the ease of use of X-ray, which was used for screening as well as clinical diagnosis. Nearly one fourth of those with diabetes did not undertake Xpert MTB/RIF testing. (The uptake of Xpert MTB/RIF testing among individuals with random blood sugar [RBS] >200 mg/dL and known diabetes mellitus was 76% and 77%, respectively). In Nepal, among 1019 patients with diabetes

from diabetic clinics, 21% had symptoms but only two patients were smear positive and none were found by Xpert.

*Were additional cases found?* The prevalence of TB was 10% among those with diabetes in Pakistan but only 0.2% in Nepal. The odds of developing TB were nearly 4.5 times higher in Pakistan in persons with previously diagnosed diabetes mellitus compared to those who were newly diagnosed. The possible reason for this difference in yield is the use of a more sensitive algorithm in Pakistan that included CXR.

#### 4. Homeless persons

Only one pilot study from India was available in the five-year period (refer Table 5 in Annexure for further details) (34). This was done by the NIRT, India. The algorithm was screening by any one of the four symptoms and mass miniature radiography (MMR); diagnosis by smear microscopy and culture. Chest symptoms were present in 8% and 2% had a past history of TB. The prevalence of TB in this group was found to be 1661/100 000, which is much higher than in the general population. The prevalence of smoking and alcohol consumption was 11% and 17%, respectively. Treatment completion rates were poor (1 in 5). The authors opined that incentives like food should be considered for improving participation in treatment.

#### 5. Migrants

Three studies available from past five years were reviewed (refer Table 5 in Annexure) (35–37). Two were from India and one from Nepal. The brick kiln workers were considered as internal migrants in all three studies. Two of the three studies gave the prevalence of symptoms only. The study from NIRT, India, included 4002 brick kiln workers and migrants from other districts. Brick kilns expose them to dust and smoke. The prevalence of symptoms was high. It was 9% in India and 14% in Nepal. However, no conclusion can be drawn on diagnosed TB cases as the only study that confirmed diagnosis had a high drop-out rate.

*Algorithms used.* Screening by symptoms was done by all three studies and a high prevalence of chest symptoms was seen in all three studies. Only one study conducted diagnostic tests, which was by sputum microscopy/Xpert.

#### Implementation of ACF in migrants

A district can have multiple kilns. In the Indian study, workers of one kiln were interviewed by the same field worker, which helped to establish a rapport. The workers had to spare about 30–35 min for the interview. The kilns are located 2–8 km away from the nearest village. This could be the reason for the high drop-out rate for diagnosis: only 39% of those with chest symptoms gave sputum for microscopy/Xpert.

#### 6. Other congregate settings

Four studies available in the five-year period were reviewed (refer Table 6 in Annexure for further details) (33,38–40). Of these, one each was from the Republic of Korea and Nepal, and two from India.

The study from the Republic of Korea had a prospective design and followed up more than 100 000 contacts of 2609 bacteriologically positive persons for an average of nearly three years. These contacts were from schools, workplaces, health facilities and various social welfare settings. Of the contacts, 499 developed TB of which *81.0% were diagnosed within 2 years*. Of the 163 contacts with LTBI who eventually developed active TB, 85% were diagnosed within 2 years. The incidence of TB in contacts was 146 per 10 000 personyears. The risk increased with age and was the highest in individuals aged  $\geq$ 65 years.

In Tibetan refugee children who lived in boarding conditions in India, 26% of schoolchildren had exposure to a TB case in school and 3% had exposure to a TB case at home. Nearly one third (26%) of students reported exposure to someone with active TB in the previous 2 years at school.

Algorithms used. The studies from India and the Republic of Korea used a history of contact over 2 years. In the study from the Republic of Korea, CXR and screening for LTBI were prioritized for close contacts. In one Indian study, a majority of TB cases (n = 42/47 [90%]) were detected after CXR examination following TST positivity. In the second Indian study covering three states, 96 TB cases were found, 31 by smear microscopy but 34 (35%) were smear negative and Xpert positive. In Nepal, 2 weeks of cough and smear microscopy were included in the algorithm and Xpert was done only if the sputum smear was negative.

Were additional cases found? The prevalence of TB in schoolchildren at the seven boarding schools was 916 (range 371–3205) per 100 000. In the second Indian study covering three states, the overall prevalence was 346/100 000 (higher than the prevalence in the general population) but varied across states, and MDR-TB was found in 5%.

#### Implementation of ACF in Nepal

The study population included urban slum dwellers, factory workers, prisoners, refugees, monks/nuns, people living with HIV (PLHIV), household contacts of TB patients and patients with diabetes (*33*). LED microscopes fitted in mobile vans and outreach workers carried out the ACF. However, only about half of the smear-negative persons went for Xpert testing. The number needed to screen (NNS) was reported for factory workers and refugees alone, which was 334 and 309, respectively.

#### 7. Children

Three studies (one each from India, Nepal and Pakistan) available in the 5-year period were reviewed (refer Table 7 in Annexure for further details) (41–43). All studies used diverse strategies to find additional cases. Two of these were facility-based studies but the one from Nepal used multiple strategies to identify childhood TB cases.

*Algorithms used.* The algorithm used in Nepal was screening by a symptom-based questionnaire and TST, and diagnosis by CXR and sputum microscopy. In India, TST, CXR and microscopy were used.

#### Implementation of ACF for children

The Pakistan study carried out ACF in the paediatric outpatient department of tertiary hospitals (43). An awareness campaign was done to attract patients. Out of more than 100 000 children, 5880 were identified by screening and 1417 were diagnosed with TB. An additional 390 children were identified by contact-tracing. For contact-tracing, household contacts of 774 index patients were investigated. Almost half (49%) of the contacts screened were children (3014 child contacts). This resulted in the diagnosis of an additional 390 children and 29 adults with TB. The TB prevalence was 12 940/100 000 or 13% among childhood contacts of new TB patients. Over a 17-month period, a threefold increase was observed in the notification of childhood cases.

In Bihar, India, ACF was done for children with severe acute malnutrition in nutrition rehabilitation centres (*41*). Despite all children with severe acute malnutrition qualifying for TB screening due to their history of unexplained weight loss or no weight gain in the past 3 months, only 68% (n = 301) were screened by TST, 14% (n = 61) by CXR and less than 1% (n = 3) by microscopy. Among 39 diagnosed cases, 34 (87%) initiated TB treatment and 18 (53%) were registered with the Revised National Tuberculosis Control Programme (RNTCP). In the nutrition rehabilitation centres, NNS was low at 11.

In Nepal, several ACF strategies, such as household contact screening, public–private mix (PPM) services, mobile camps, door-to-door screening, school-based screening and screening at safe motherhood clinics, were used in the intervention districts (poor people and high population density) and compared with control districts (42).

The number needed to identify one TB case was 41 in the two-day mobile health camp strategy in hard-to-reach areas, 44 in PPM services (i.e. diagnosis in the private sector and treatment at government centres), 108 in household screening, and 200 for community home-based care visits. Childhood TB case registration increased from 18.2 to 24.2/100 000 in the intervention districts and this was a significantly greater increase than seen in the control districts. The increase was significantly higher in children aged 0–4 years and in those with smear-negative pulmonary TB and extrapulmonart TB (EPTB). This was one of the few studies where children were included in mobile health clinics. The cost of covering 10 districts was US\$ 225 000 and a nongovernmental organization (NGO) was engaged.

## 8. Other vulnerable and marginalized populations (those in urban slums and hard-to-reach areas, and tribals)

Thirteen studies that were available during the 5-year period were reviewed (refer Table 8 in Annexure for further details) (33,44–55). One study each was from the Philippines and Papua New Guinea and 10 were from countries in the SEA Region (one from Nepal, two from Myanmar and seven from India). Diverse population groups were included as being vulnerable or marginalized. A lack of optimal access to TB services was the common feature in these populations.

Urban slums as a population group has been combined here with other vulnerable groups because several publications presented the results as a combined group. However, it is to be noted that, in urban settings, resources and facilities are better, such as CXR and highly sensitive tools, along with easier access to services. Hence, the planning approach to ACF among urban slums may differ from that for tribal and other hard-to-reach populations. It is also known that vulnerability in slums is high because of poor ventilation and crowded living conditions.

One study from Multan, Pakistan covered 100 HCWs (doctors and other staff). No other study from this period was available for screening among health-care workers (HCWs). Unfortunately, this study lacked sufficient details.

Algorithms used. The remaining 12 of the 13 studies reviewed for this population group used symptoms for screening (2 weeks cough or any one of four symptoms). Two studies also used CXR for screening (in Philippines for primary screening and in Myanmar for secondary screening). For diagnosis, six of 12 studies used Xpert and two studies also used CXR for diagnosis in addition to other diagnostics.

*Were additional cases found?* In countries of the SEA Region, the prevalence ranged from 0.2% to 1.5%. Only the tribal population from India (53) had a high prevalence of 1.5% (contrast with the NNS of 34 in the Indigenous population of Philippines). The large Axshya study demonstrated that the use of the same algorithm can give huge variation in yields across states (33,44).

These studies showed marked heterogeneity in prevalence/NNS. Although studies of vulnerable populations from Myanmar (*51,52*) and India (*44,49,54*) concluded that there was an increase in case-finding with the ACF activities compared to the usual passive case-finding (PCF), NNS was high at more than 4000 in 2.4 million people examined in townships of Myanmar(*51*), 2183 in urban slums (*49*) with Xpert and more than 3000 with sputum microscopy (SM), and approximately 1384 in combined urban and non-urban populations of Axshya. In another study from Myanmar, the NNS was 166 for ACF in the community (*52*). In the Philippines, the NNS was 34, 45 and 48 in Indigenous populations, rural poor and urban poor, respectively. Similarly, in Nepal, the NNS showed marked variation in different population groups (refer Table 8 in Annexure).

### Implementation of ACF for vulnerable and marginalized populations

Vulnerable and marginalized population groups were identified based on the findings of a prevalence survey in Myanmar. The large multi-state ACF study in India, Axshya (44) identified populations based on the less expensive and less intense method of stakeholder consultations. Spatial mapping is mentioned in a few studies.

In Papua New Guinea, a simple methodology was adopted for reaching populations that were remote and far removed from the usual modes of transportation (55). A message was sent to the villages in advance and staff from the nearby hospital visited the villages and screened those who self-identified first by symptoms and then by detailed symptoms and clinical examination. Sputum smear was done for the presumptive TB cases. For every TB patient on prior treatment, 6.6 more TB cases were identified. Overall, a prevalence of 0.9% smear-positive TB cases was considered conservative. This method gives a simple and cost-effective approach to finding TB cases in remote areas.

In the Philippines, the mobile team utilized a service bus to travel from one project site to another (45). The mobile unit was equipped with all diagnostic equipment, including a digital CXR machine, light-emitting diode fluorescence microscope (LED-FM) and an Xpert machine for molecular diagnosis. The mobile unit also had a slide warmer, biosafety cabinet and refrigerator to temporarily store sputum specimens. The mobile unit had the capacity to screen over 250 individuals per day at a maximum while it screened around 50±100 individuals per day on average.

#### 9. General population

Eleven studies were available for review during the five-year period (refer Table 9 in Annexure for further details) (56–66). Of these, two studies were on pregnant women – one from India (66) and one from Pakistan(58), both of which were health facility-based. Of the remaining nine, three were from China, one each from Cambodia and Pakistan, and four were from countries in the SEA Region. The SEA Region studies were from Thailand (one) and India (three). The three Indian studies were related and written at different stages of the project.

Some of the nine studies could have been considered with those in the vulnerable population group – for instance, the elderly or the rural poor. However, the two studies on the elderly gave very different results and no conclusion could be drawn. One was done in the general population and the other was combined with annual check-ups for the elderly. The studies on the rural poor did not have enough data to show that they were indeed from a vulnerable group. Hence, these were included among those in the general population.
Algorithms used. Screening by 2 weeks of cough shows huge differences across countries. The yield of TB cases was 4.5% and 12% in rural China (57,59) and 34% in the rural elderly in Cambodia (60).

- Screening by CXR (primary or secondary)
  - In China, screening by CXR was done after the screening by symptoms (secondary screening).
  - In Cambodia, for the rural elderly, CXR was combined with symptoms followed by Xpert and culture. Among those with CXR abnormalities, 40% were asymptomatic. The study concluded that CXR was the most effective component of the screening algorithm for identifying Xpert-positive cases.
- Diagnosis by Xpert. In the Cambodia study (60), it was noted that only 32% of Xpert-positive patients had cough for 2 weeks or more. Thus, the use of Xpert for diagnosis was important for increasing the yield. This is consistent with findings from Philippines (45) and another study from Cambodia (67).

*Were additional cases found*? Although studies *(61,63–65)* concluded that there was an increase in case-finding with the ACF activities over the usual passive case-finding (PCF), but the NNS was high – 260 in rural Pakistan *(61)*, 87 in Cambodia (rural elderly) *(60)*. The prevalence of TB among pregnant women was very low (0.05% and 0.02%, or 50 and 20 per 100 000) in Pakistan and India, respectively.

#### Implementation of ACF in the general population

*India (63).* Sixteen districts of Haryana state in India were covered by the corporate sector in partnership with the government to make the state TB-free. A mobile van with CXR, microscope and Xpert was provided by the corporate partners and staff was provided by the corporate hospital. In order to increase participation, frontline informal workers (Accredited Social Health Activists [ASHAs]) helped with dissemination of information about the camps. To decrease the number of drop-outs, CXR and sputum examination were done in the same visit, unlike earlier, when CXR was done only for smear-negative patients. The initiative resulted in a 12% increase in case notification mainly due to an increase in clinically diagnosed cases. The proportion of new smear-negative cases changed from 17.5% to 18.2% after a year.

*China (57)*. In this *retrospective cohort study*, 10 communities in a county were screened by symptoms and risk factors, following which sputum microscopy and CXR were done for diagnosis between 2013 and 2015. The NNS was calculated separately for those with HIV, past history of TB, and those with symptoms of TB (34, 29 and 39, respectively), which was much higher than the NNS in the general population (1478). There was no significant difference in the cumulative TB incidence or prevalence between the ACF and PCF areas during the screening time frame. The decrease in the number of cases detected in 2015 could be explained by earlier detection of most TB cases in 2013 and 2014 caused by the massive screening effort.

#### ACF in the elderly – two countries, two results

In Cambodia (60), initial screening by symptoms and secondary screening by CXR were done and diagnosis was by Xpert. One third of the participants screened positive. Among these, 55% were positive by symptoms alone, 29% were positive by CXR alone and 17% were positive by both symptom and CXR criteria. *Among the Xpert-positive patients, only 32% reported a cough of 2 weeks or more, while 40% were asymptomatic and were identified because of an abnormal CXR.* Bacteriologically confirmed pulmonary TB was 1.3% in those more than 55 years old and increased with age: from 0.9% in the 55–64 years age group to 2.2% among those aged more than 74 years. According to the authors, *CXR was clearly the most effective component of the screening algorithm for identifying Xpert-positive cases.* 

In China (56), a pilot study conducted from March to June 2017 in a township of about 17 000 people showed different results from the study in Cambodia. Earlier, ACF case notification was lower than the national average and very few TB cases had been notified among seniors. The algorithm for the elderly was screening by symptoms and risk factors during routine annual check-ups followed by CXR (secondary screening). Those with a positive CXR or symptoms underwent sputum smear examination and culture. Three were diagnosed to have active TB, giving an *estimated detection rate of 146 per 100 000, which was much lower than the expected rate of 502/10 000 in the elderly in China*.

#### B. Advantages of ACF

#### **Benefits to the community**

ACF leads to an increase in notification rates for TB. This has been seen in studies reviewed from India (44,50,63), Myanmar (51), Cambodia (12) and China (68). A study from China (57) showed a significant decline in case notification in five years after three rounds of ACF in comparison to the PCF districts.

#### Benefits to the patients

Benefits to the patients are manifold.

- 1. A qualitative study concluded that nearly half the patients did not consider the symptoms serious enough to visit a health facility and about 10% did not know where to go or did not have the money or social support *(69)*.
- 2. ACF decreased the patient delay significantly (57,70). When targeted at household members, ACF is beneficial for families because of earlier detection compared to PCF (71).

- 3. ACF among marginalized and vulnerable populations reduces the total costs and prevalence of catastrophic costs due to TB diagnosis and overcomes the cost barrier to seeking TB care (72–75). ACF is seen to be an instrument for reducing the broader socioeconomic consequences of TB (73).
- 4. Patients identified by ACF tend to be older and living away from the health facilities (44,51). ACF thus is seen to overcome the barriers to access for vulnerable populations (44,53).

#### ACF is cost effective

A number of studies have found ACF to be cost effective. This has been seen with the community trial AIDS Clinical Trials (ACT)2. The estimated incremental cost–effectiveness ratio was US\$ 544 (95% CI: 330–1375) per disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) averted and the investigators conducted several sensitivity analyses around model inputs (76). In Cambodia (12), the use of CXR and Xpert was found to be *cost effective*. Similarly, in Pakistan, where patients were paid for the visits and health workers were given incentives in the ACF group, and media activities were done, ACF was found to be cost effective (77). ACF leads to an increase in overall case notification, as seen in some of the studies published from Cambodia (12), the People's Republic of China (68), India (44,50,63) and Myanmar (51). Another study from the People's Republic of China (57) showed a significant decline in case notification in five years after three rounds of ACF in comparison with the PCF districts. Modelling studies have also been conducted to demonstrate cost-effectiveness as detailed in Chapter 4, Section D

#### C. Treatment outcomes of patients identified by ACF

The treatment outcomes of patients found by ACF in comparison to the general programme deserve a mention. Since the patients identified by ACF could be asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic, there has been concern in some quarters that these patients will either not start treatment or will interrupt it. Eight studies published in the past five years were reviewed for treatment outcomes; four from South-East Asia (*51*, *78–80*), three from other Asian countries (*45*, *60*, *80*) and one from Peru (*71*). Each study was from a diverse setting, involving different population groups. However, the main points are as follows:

*Initial loss to follow up:* in the studies where this was given, it ranged from 3% in a large Indian study of 5 million households (44,78) to 25% in a district with large proportion of migrants (81). It was 4% in Myanmar (51), 3% in Cambodia (60) and 17% in Philippines (45). It was nil in the study of contacts of TB cases in Peru (71).

*Treatment outcomes of those started on treatment:* the treatment success rate in patients diagnosed by ACF ranged from 67% in Haridwar district, India (81) to 95% in Cambodia (80). Peru had a treatment success rate of 73% in both ACF and PCF patients (71). All the

other studies had a treatment success rate of 85% or higher in ACF or at least the same as in PCF groups. In Haridwar district, the proportion of unsuccessful treatment outcomes was 33% (n = 18) among ACF patients compared to 14% (n = 25) among PCF patients (adjusted relative risk: 2.6, 95% CI: 1.7–4.0). The patients detected by ACF were older, had a lower proportion of retreatment and EPTB. In the large Axshya study also, patients found by ACF were older but the analysis was done after adjusting for age, sex and distance of residence from the microscopy centre, and it was seen that ACF-diagnosed people had a 17% lower chance of unfavourable outcomes at the end of treatment compared to those diagnosed by PCF. Although this was not statistically significant, it was a big difference (*78*). In one of the two studies from Myanmar, 5% of the patients did not have a report on treatment outcome (*79*). The treatment success rate was high in the two Cambodian studies of patients aged 55 years or more (*60*)(*80*). In one study, the *health facility was given US\$ 2 per patient* as support for treatment initiation and follow up (*80*).

The Philippine study (45) had a very high proportion of bacteriologically positive cases (97%) and was considered as one of the factors for patients to have had high adherence to treatment. However, there was a high rate of initial loss to follow up of 17%. In this study, although the treatment success rate for all populations was high – 89.5% in rifampicin-susceptible patients and 83.3% in rifampicin-resistant patients – a relatively higher loss to follow-up rate was observed in the Indigenous population (7.5%) and the rural poor (6.4%).

Based on the few studies available for understanding treatment outcomes in patients diagnosed by ACF, it is seen that treatment outcomes are not compromised by ACF. This is consistent with findings of a review study (78).

#### D. Implementation lessons

Some implementation lessons and challenges common to all population groups in the ACF studies of this review are given below.

- 1. Process for identification of vulnerable populations. The vulnerability of some groups to TB is universal knowledge, for example, prisoners, PLHIV and household contacts. Others need to be identified. Some examples are given below.
  - (a) In the Axshya study spanning several states and districts in India, the populations living far from public health facilities were operationally defined as "marginalized and vulnerable", and were identified by a population-mapping exercise with the help of multiple stakeholders such as programme managers, community representatives and NGOs (44).
  - (b) In Myanmar, a similar criterion of limited access to health-care services was used but, in addition, the findings of a nationwide TB prevalence survey (2009 and 2010) were also included. Prevalence was known to be more in urban than rural areas, in states than regions, in certain ethnic minority groups than the general population (51).

- (c) Similarly, a prevalence survey in Cambodia helped identify those above the age of 55 years as a vulnerable group (prevalence of 2400 cases per 100 000) (80).
- (d) Vulnerable populations can also be identified from Census data as in a study from south India where two districts were chosen for ACF because of a higher proportion of people from disadvantaged castes and tribes (50).
- (e) Prior studies can help in the identification of groups with a high TB prevalence. This was used as guidance for implementing ACF in Tibetans (38) and tribals (53).
- (f) Characteristics of patients India's large ACF study also identified the characteristics of patients found by ACF as distinct from patients found by PCF. These were: likely to be more than 65 years age, no formal education, lower monthly income, living in rural areas and more than 15 km from health facilities. Advanced age, rural area and distance are the criteria used in other countries (51,56,80).
- (q) Spatial targeting this concentrates screening within geographical "hotspots" of TB incidence that arise as a result of several different mechanisms. It uses Geographic Information System (GIS) and mobile communications technology in combination with certain factors such as size of the area (concentric circles around the index case), incubation time after notification to propose a neighbourhood contact-screening strategy. Thus, it helps in targeting the population to be screened around the index case such that there is a reasonable yield of cases (82). Modelling of transmission dynamics can help with estimation of the direct impact of spatial targeting on those screened as well as the indirect impact on transmission (49). There are instances in which a few hotspots have been identified, which contribute to most of the transmission in the city, and focus case-finding in those areas. Though advantageous, spatial targeting can be effective only if there is a high-quality TB surveillance system or periodic surveys to identify true spatial clusters of TB. The MATCH (Mapping and Analysis for Tailored Disease Control and Health System Strengthening) approach can be used to target interventions using existing data, and to use mapping and spatial analysis techniques to inform decision-making (83).
- 2. Example of community-level screening (symptoms and referral for sputum microscopy) by NTP staff in a district with vulnerable populations in India (46)

The NTP staff was supported by community volunteers (CVs). Based on screening for one of four symptoms, 1.1% of the population was diagnosed as presumptive TB cases. Of these, only 85% went for sputum examination to the health facility. Of the 29 found to be sputum-positive, 20 (69%) started treatment.

#### Insights on ACF from focus group discussions with patients and health-care workers

One study (46) included focus group discussions with patients and health workers, which provided insights for implementation from the patients' and the health workers' perspectives. For patients, stigma, lack of support from family members, fear of loss of livelihood, transportation costs, preference for private health care and overcrowded public hospitals were important. For health workers, a target-oriented approach, insufficient incentive, inappropriate timing of ACF, perceived disrespect, poor counselling, lack of cooperation between the TB and general health staff, shortage of staff and long turnaround time of Xpert were important.

Some suggestions to improve ACF activities from the health workers' and patients' perspectives were as follows:

- 1. having a mobile van with CXR and Xpert;
- 2. providing financial support to patients for transportation for CXR, sputum microscopy and Xpert;
- 3. issuing identity cards to workers involved with ACF so that their activities are considered authentic by the people they visit;
- 4. providing monetary incentives and face masks for workers visiting the houses;
- 5. training workers in counselling on sputum production and in sputum collection;
- 6. involving local community leaders.
- 3. Example of ACF implemented by community volunteers and NGOs for communitylevel screening

This is a common model found in this review.

- (a) In Kolkata, India, part-time paid and trained CVs were used from the local community for ACF in urban slums for house-to-house screening. This was not welcomed by the community because of stigma and lack of understanding of the purpose of the activity. A third of the presumptive TB cases asked to go to the health facility for testing did not do so (49).
- (b) CVs and NGOs implemented the ACF intervention in the large Axshya project of 5 million households in India (44). The CVs visited 1000 households in a month, line-listed those identified by screening and referred them for sputum microscopy. For those unable to go, the CVs did sputum collection

and transportation. They were supervised by the NGOs, by district and state supervisor. Almost 40% of the patients needed sputum collection and transportation. Yet, altogether only 54% of the presumptive TB cases underwent sputum examination. This compromised the potential yield of TB cases. Almost all those diagnosed were started on treatment. The lessons from this large study were that support for sputum collection and transportation is an important component of implementation of ACF (44).

- (c) In Myanmar (84), as in Axshya project, NGOs engaged local CVs after training. Presumptive TB patients were identified and referred to the local TB centres. However, in the 84 townships where ACF activities were carried out over 4 years, the proportion of presumptive TB and total cases contributed by ACF was seen to decline from 6% to 4%. Possible reasons for the decline in case-finding were lack of payment to the volunteers, high turnover of volunteers, lack of compensation to the volunteers for sputum transportation and to presumptive TB cases to go for sputum examination. A need for closer supervision was felt. Also, the number of presumptive TB cases was not entered in the reporting system, which might have resulted in errors. Thus, monitoring of ACF activities is important.
- (d) CVs implemented ACF in Indonesia (14). Although all those identified as presumptive TB cases went for sputum examination, no TB cases were identified and only 1%, less than expected, of those screened were found to have chronic cough. One of the reasons considered was lack of a good sputum sample despite training (14). Supervision was considered important for ACF activities.
- (e) In a rural tribal population in India (85), CVs did house-to-house visits and ACF activities were low cost and highly cost effective. An important lesson was that this arrangement still resulted in higher laboratory workload and resource commitment from the NTP.
- 4. Examples of ACF implemented with mobile vans as a one-stop shop by NTP staff
  - (a) In rural Cambodia (60), for screening the elderly, a mobile van with CXR and a nurse and doctor were stationed at a selected site. The nurse conducted an interview and did a CXR. The physician read the CXR and made the decision to treat. Xpert testing was done on-site initially but later shifted to a provincial laboratory. Free transportation to this screening site was provided to the participants. A week before this planned mobile site, awareness sessions were organized in the villages for the public and community leaders, and house-to-house information provided. Patients were referred for treatment. On average, 100 persons could be screened daily this way and the patient spent less than 45 min (60). This is, however, a feasible yet **resource-intensive** method: up to 19 persons as well as equipment (CXR, Xpert) are required.

Free transportation for participants, training of staff, external quality control of processes, daily sample transportation and extended laboratory operating hours to receive specimens have to be arranged.

- (b) The Philippines study also used mobile vans except that Xpert testing was on-site (45). In an Indian study, this arrangement helped in overcoming the challenges of referrals for sputum microscopy or CXR (63).
- (c) In Myanmar, mobile vans with a portable digital X-ray and sputum microscopy were used regularly (51). With eight staff, including a nurse, laboratory technician and X-ray technicians (no doctor), the mobile van went to different settings where community awareness had been conducted 2–4 weeks earlier and the local staff had identified presumptive TB patients. The difference in this model was that the local TB coordinator was present at the site and started TB treatment on site with referral to the local TB unit for follow up. For Xpert testing, patients were referred to the local TB unit. Although almost all (97%) the presumptive TB cases came to the mobile van for CXR, of those with abnormality, only about half (51%) went for testing by sputum microscopy, which was done in the health facility. *Referrals for diagnosis gave a high dropout rate*. However, on an average, ACF contributed 25% of additional cases in the respective townships. The treatment success rate for new smear-positive cases was 93%.
- 5. Example of ACF by private-public partnership (with a mobile van). A corporate hospital pooled resources from other industries and provided ACF services in coordination with the state and district TB programmes/government. This initiative provided staff and a mobile van fitted with an X-ray machine, microscope and Xpert. The initiative was scaled up to cover 16 districts and contributed 12% of additional cases (63).
- 6. Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) and use of technology. ACF requires multiple repetitive processes such as enumeration of houses, line-listing of people screened and referred for testing, linking their test reports to those of the contact, coordination for initiation of treatment, and M&E of ongoing ACF activities. Coordination is needed between patients and services as well as among various agencies involved in these processes. This can be facilitated by the use of handheld data recording devices that have a decision-support system, m-health services for coordination with beneficiaries, and electronic systems (for example, mobile-based EpiCollect) (43,85). Many ACF studies reviewed for this paper used retrospective programme data for monitoring or reporting results. For ongoing monitoring and operational research for ACF activities, it is important to use current data supported by electronic systems. Qualitative studies should also be part of the operational research.

- 7. ACF activities can be implemented in coordination with other health programmes
  - (a) In China, screening for TB among the elderly has been coordinated with the programme for an annual physical check-up for the elderly (56).
  - (b) HIV testing centres have been used to conduct ACF for TB in Haiti (87).
  - (c) India's national noncommunicable disease (NCD) programme has house-tohouse visits for hypertension and diabetes screening, which can be combined with symptom screening for TB, thereby saving costs and staff time.
- 8. Media activities prior to ACF
  - (a) Community mobilization and community-based screening could be key to increasing the uptake of ACF (62). Awareness generation about a week before implementing the ACF intervention was found to be effective (7,25,38,42,43,46,51,54,64,88). Mostly, these consisted of information to the community about the activities but specific information about TB was also given in some instances, which helped in overcoming stigma and increased participation. The type of media campaign did not have much influence (61). Importantly, despite media activities, ACF continued to be cost effective (77).
  - (b) In a large study that covered over 400 000 households of vulnerable populations in 15 districts in the Indian state of Jharkhand, media activities were conducted in the form of public announcements and wall paintings, and stalls in the markets on fixed days. Additionally, house-to-house visits for identifying presumptive cases also included TB information. These communication activities combined with sputum collection and transportation by CVs who were paid and supervised, resulted in an increase in case notification in the intervention areas in comparison to the baseline as well as to the non-intervention areas in the short term, similar to what was also seen in the Cochrane review of 2017 (54).
  - (c) A Cochrane review from several countries, including one from Pakistan, compared the effect of health promotion activities with no intervention on increased attendance for TB screening. The data suggested a temporal association between the intervention period and an increase in the number of smears and people tested. However, the corresponding increase in the number of TB case notifications was not convincing (89).

#### Summary of challenges to ACF implementation

From the review of studies, it is understood that ACF implementation poses multiple challenges:

- (a) Participation of the people was unsatisfactory because of an indifferent attitude of the community due to stigma and lack of awareness about TB.
- (b) Assessment of symptoms is compromised due to the lack of a standard questionnaire or inadequately trained staff.
- (c) Coordination for transfer of samples and receiving test results is a challenge.
- (d) Drop-outs during referrals for testing was seen in many studies (Axshya, urban slums of Kolkata and Agra, and tribal populations of India (53), including in populations that had challenges with access to health services to begin with). In Agra, India, only 40% of the patients reached the health facility on their own for investigations, while 60% had to be supported by CVs (48). In the multistate large Indian study, Axshya, only 22% of the referred presumptive TB cases reached the microscopy centre (44).
- (e) In the algorithm based on sputum microscopy, the yield could be lower if the technique and skills in getting a good sample are compromised, as well as preparation and reading of the smear. Quality assurance is therefore important.
- (f) The site for the mobile van/ACF camp should be well selected and prepared.
- (g) The community should be prepared.
- (h) Training and regular supervisory support should be provided to health-care workers/volunteers.
- (i) Diversion of workers from PCF to ACF will decrease the overall impact of ACF.
- (j) Counselling should be done for those found to have TB and for initiation on treatment.
- (k) If the treatment outcome of patients found by ACF is poorer, it decreases the cost–effectiveness of ACF.

#### Good practices from the review for optimizing implementation of ACF

- (a) Some methods used to increase community participation are use of the media a week before the ACF intervention. This has been tried in many studies (61,63), a innovations such as seed and recruit method in Cambodia (90,91), house-to-house screening by volunteers instead of invitation to the people, and in-kind incentives in Indonesia (14).
- (b) Adequate training of volunteers to ask for symptoms, asking of symptoms from each household member instead of the head of the household, incentives to the volunteers all play a role in the quality of screening (48).
- (c) Drop-outs to testing can be prevented with sputum collection and transportation instead of referral to the laboratory (44,53), if testing is available on-site (X-ray camps by the public–private partnership (PPP) model for ACF in the general population) (63,64), if CVs accompany the patients (slums) (48), if patients are compensated for their travel costs, as in Pakistan (43).
- (d) Drop-outs to treatment can be prevented if CVs have the added responsibility of initiating patients on treatment (53), or by the use of mobile health technology to coordinate between ACF and PCF and smoothly transition the patients from ACF to programme care (92,93).
- (e) Diagnosis by SM requires quality assurance. For processing a high volume of X-rays, software of different kinds has been used in the field (24).
- (f) Use of volunteers (44,48), engagement of NGOs (53) and the private sector through PPM (63–65) can prevent diversion of workers from the regular programme. Though it overburdens laboratories, it still needs to be considered in some cases.
- (g) A digital system should be used for recording patient data and for coordination between screening, diagnosis and treatment initiation.
- (h) Activities can be optimized by combining house-to-house or clinic activities with other health programmes.

#### E. Costs of ACF

Most of the studies have considered costing incremental to the national programme. For TB REACH projects, a standardized tool is being developed to compare ACF interventions across different countries (94,95). A review of studies from different population groups showed the following:

- 1. X-ray and Xpert are expensive (56,92,96,97). If analysis is done along four sets of activities pre-implementation, screening, diagnosis and treatment then in countries that employed X-ray and/or Xpert for diagnosis, the diagnostic activities cost 50% of the total costs.
  - (a) Costs were 59% in Tajikistan where CXR and Xpert were done for all, and 45% in Cambodia where Xpert was done only if the CXR showed an abnormality. In China, where CXR was used for screening of the elderly, 62% of the project costs were due to X-ray. Similarly, in the Viet Nam ACF2, major costs were due to diagnostics.
  - (b) Xpert can result in about a third of the costs (92); in the Tajikistan programme, the recurrent cost was mainly the Xpert cartridge, priced at about US\$ 10 (34%). It was the most significant cost driver.
- 2. Pooling of sputum one of the strategies for reducing costs is pooling of sputum for ultra assay after CXR. As per the results of a publication referenced here, this resulted in a decrease in costs and time by at least 26% and could potentially be 35% (92). The recommendation is to pool the samples of those with a normal CXR while individually testing those with an abnormal CXR. However, the challenges would include storing of sputum, ensuring correct recording and avoiding contamination. There is also a potential for increased cost of human resources because of repeat procedures for sputum testing.
- 3. Mobile vans and portable X-rays (43,51,64). Three studies that used mobile vans with portable X-rays successfully provided costs. Costs are from the India study from 2016 (US\$ 1 was INR 64), the one-time cost of a van including fabrication was approximately US\$ 36 000 and for the equipment (portable X-ray machine and a digital reader and printing of the X-ray) approximately US\$ 10 000. The usual operating costs in such vans are expected to be annual maintenance of the equipment, insurance of the van (about US\$ 390 per year) and fuel. In Nepal, the cost of covering 10 districts with mobile clinics was US\$ 225 000 and an NGO was engaged (42).
- 4. Payment to personnel and travel costs are big components (14,92,94,95)
  - (a) In ACF interventions that use screening by symptoms and diagnosis by sputum microscopy in a government laboratory, stipends to staff and their travel costs comprise the majority of the expenditure (14,92,94).
  - (b) In ACF interventions that use Xpert and CXR, payments to personnel are the second-highest costs.
  - (c) Some studies paid a regular stipend combined with an "incentive" or by the number of tasks completed and travel costs (14,94). The costs of supervisors and training were additional. Regular salaries were also given (64).

- 5. A time motion study in India was helpful in understanding costs (94).
  - (a) One staff spent 50% of time in travelling to communities with an average of 22 TB patients (95% CI: 19.14–24.94) seen per day per person. The other major time-consuming activities were administrative work (12%) and laboratorybased work (9%).
  - (b) The cost of travel of HCWs was about half a dollar a visit. This means US\$ 0.50/ person screened and US\$ 20.82/person completing TB treatment. Based on the average cost to the programme, this means US\$ 35 to support a patient with 45 visits to complete treatment.
  - (c) On an average, one staff can do 22 (19–25) patient visits per day (94). A welltrained team of six, as in surveys, can screen 250 individuals a day (8). The time motion study noted the time taken as 5 minutes for initial and follow-up visits for screening (94).
- 6. Indirect implications on the staffing of the national TB programme. With specimen transportation from the field to the programme laboratories for sputum examination, ACF resulted in an increased workload on the laboratories an average of a 20% increase with some experiencing up to 40% increase. This has largely been not welcomed by programme staff.



To begin with, expert opinions on the choice of algorithms are discussed followed by results from population groups and implementation of ACF.

#### A. Choice of algorithms

An important parameter for comparing algorithms is the yield of an algorithm, which is the total number of TB cases detected. The yield of a prevalence survey is considered as a gold standard. In a prevalence survey, screening is usually by symptoms and CXR, and diagnosis by sputum culture. A positive predictive value (PPV) of 90% for an algorithm implies that false positives are no more than 10%. This level is considered as an acceptable level of accuracy (8,9). PPV varies with the prevalence of TB in the group in which ACF is being implemented.

General guidance of experts (8,9) for screening by symptoms and diagnosis by smear microscopy

- If the TB prevalence is at least 1.5% (in population groups such as prisoners, miners, etc.), a PPV of 90% can be achieved by screening those with cough for 2 weeks or more and diagnosis by sputum microscopy. The yield will be 26% of that seen in a prevalence survey.
- 2. For the same population group as above, if instead of cough for 2 weeks, screening is done by any one of four symptoms (cough for 2 weeks, fever for 2 weeks, haemoptysis in the past 6 months, chest pain in the past 1 month), then the yield increases to 30.5%.

WHO has recommended universal DST and Xpert for diagnosis. Indeed, recent prevalence surveys have used Xpert in place of culture. In line with this, a third recommendation on algorithms is as follows (98):

3. An algorithm that has CXR screening (which has high sensitivity) followed by confirmatory testing with Xpert (to increase the specificity) can achieve the lowest NNS and highest PPV, and the validity is least amendable to setting-specific variation. However, resource requirements for tests and equipment may be prohibitive in some settings and a reason to opt for symptom screening and sputum microscopy.

#### B. Population groups

#### 1. Household contacts

WHO endorses systematic screening of household contacts as they are at an increased risk of infection. A meta-analysis from 2013 showed that 3.1% of contacts in resource-

limited settings had co-prevalent TB (99). The incidence is known to be the greatest in the first year after exposure. Other studies have shown that 63–95% of contacts develop TB within 2–5 years of contact, especially if they have untreated LTBI (40,100).

### Lessons on CXR- and Xpert-based algorithms from the Philippines study of multiple population groups

In the Philippines study (45), screening was done by symptoms and CXR, and diagnosis by Xpert.

- Among those screened, only 22% had cough for 2 weeks whereas 70% had one or more of the four symptoms. Thus, use of any symptom gives a higher yield of presumptive cases than cough for 2 weeks alone. However, cough for more than 2 weeks showed a significant association with TB diagnosis in all target populations after adjustment (any symptom showed a significant association only in prison).
- The largest proportion of people with presumptive TB was found in prisoners (39.0%), followed by the urban poor (22.5%), the rural poor (16.1%), Indigenous population (15.1%) and those in high school (3.1%). Indigenous populations had a large proportion of symptoms (both cough for 2 weeks and any one of four symptoms) while prisoners had a large proportion (39%) of CXR abnormalities.
- For diagnosis, smear positivity was the highest in the urban poor while Xpert positivity was the highest in Indigenous populations.
- Diagnosis by Xpert: among the four populations, the proportion of smear-negative (Xpert-positive) patients was small in the urban poor (4.0%) but constituted a substantial proportion in the rural poor (61.8%), prison (40.1%) and Indigenous populations (67.9%).
- The Philippines study concluded that the combined use of CXR and Xpert contributed the most to increased case detection. It increased the yield by 39% in Indigenous populations and 23% in the rural poor as they were smear negative and did not have cough for 2 weeks or more. This might be because of fewer symptoms or a milder form of the disease.

#### Lessons from Cambodia

In Cambodia (60), screening was done with symptoms and CXR, and diagnosis by Xpert. Fifty-five per cent were positive by symptoms alone, 29% by CXR alone and 17% had both symptoms and CXR criteria. Among the Xpert-positive patients, only 32% had cough for 2 weeks or more *while 40% were asymptomatic and identified because of an abnormal CXR*. Thus, use of Xpert for diagnosis was considered important for increasing the yield.

Household intervention is considered important to break the chain of onward transmission by identifying contacts with LTBI and giving preventive treatment, and by identifying TB disease and giving appropriate treatment. In 2018, only 27% of the eligible household contacts received TPT (*3*). With country commitments made at the UN High-Level Meeting on TB (UNHLM-TB) in September 2018 to cover 4 million children under the age of 5 years and 20 million other household contacts of TB patients, this group is of high importance.

In this review, the community trials in the Republic of Korea, Viet Nam and Cambodia, and Indian studies have shown an increase in additional cases in the district programme with household contact screening. The issue is whether ACF should be considered for household contacts over and above household intervention in the routine programme. ACT2, implemented by national TB programme staff, shows that ACF districts had a higher notification rate than control districts. Thus, it seems prudent to consider household contact screening as one of the ACF strategies, in addition to the routine screening envisaged in the programme.

Since all three community trials considered contacts over two years, it would be appropriate to consider ACF among households of all patients registered in the past two years, i.e. every alternate year. This would enable national programmes to target other high-risk groups in the intervening years, if required.

Algorithm for ACF in household contacts. Based on the NIRT study in Chennai (16), which showed that CXR for screening had high sensitivity (96%) and specificity (91%), it can be recommended as the screening tool for household contacts. For diagnosis, Cambodia used Xpert, which has a better yield than sputum microscopy. Nepal used cough for 2 weeks followed by sputum microscopy and, if negative, Xpert (refer Table 8 in Annexure). Thus, depending on the available resources, the options are to use symptoms alone or symptoms and CXR for screening. If CXR is not an option, then for higher sensitivity, any of the four symptoms can be used instead of cough for 2 weeks. That would increase the number of samples for Xpert but can compensate to some extent for the lack of CXR.

In programme conditions, implementation arrangements for household contact-tracing have been seen to have challenges of drop-outs and linkage to treatment. These would need to be addressed during the planning stage.

Further research evidence is needed on inclusion of children in ACF among household contacts, as the current evidence is insufficient and contradictory. The prospective study from the Republic of Korea found age more than 65 years to be a risk factor and had a low yield among children. This was also seen in the Indian study by NIRT (*16*) whereas in Nepal (*42*), household contact-tracing for children was found to be useful. Community-based trials (Cambodia (*12*) and Viet Nam (*11*)) did not include children.

#### 2. Prisoners

WHO estimates the TB prevalence in prisons to be 10–100-fold higher than that in the general population (101). A systematic review from 2013 estimated a median prevalence of active TB of 2712/100 000 (1763–4563/100 000) in low- and-middle-income countries (30). The median estimated fraction of TB in the general population attributable to exposure to TB in prisons is 8.5% (102). Second, prisoners are a captive population that can be covered with minimal resources. Services for prisoners address the issues of equity and access. Third, as the Bangladesh study estimated, the rate of recent transmission in prisons was 9.6%, which declined significantly with regular screening (28). Fourth, in SEA Region countries as in Bangladesh, prisons could have a higher prevalence of MDR-TB.

The prevalence of TB varies widely in prisons in the three SEA countries – Bangladesh, India and Thailand. However, as the Indian study shows, the results vary within the country too and are associated with the size of the prison and the available health services in the prison.

The studies in this review noted several challenges with ACF in prisons. However, there are many other similar challenges with getting permissions that are not covered here (103). Prisoners should have regular screening for TB during their stay as well as at entry and exit. Screening at entry can be with CXR. Ideally, prison staff should also be included in the regular screening. A partnership with prison authorities should be part of the multisectoral accountability framework. The NTP should coordinate with prison authorities to ensure continuity of services for the prisoner-patients at the time of exit from prison. ACF for TB can be combined with that for HIV, where appropriate, to increase the cost–effectiveness as well as efficiency of implementation.

Algorithm for screening. Although a meta-analysis of prison studies recommends CXR for screening, the Philippines study concluded that prison inmates had a significant association with screening by "any symptom" and a large proportion of abnormal CXR results (45). Thus, in resource-constrained settings, screening by one of the four symptoms can be a second option. Xpert can be considered as a first option for diagnosis as additional cases were diagnosed with Xpert in Ethiopia, Nepal (refer Table 8 in annexure) and Bangladesh, as it identifies rifampicin-resistant TB (RR-TB).

#### 3. People with diabetes

In 2015, an estimated 1 million people globally had TB–diabetes mellitus comorbidity, comparable to nearly 1.2 million patients with TB–HIV coinfection. Available evidence from China, Bangladesh, the Republic of Korea, Nepal and Pakistan shows a TB prevalence that is 1.8–9.5 times higher in those with diabetes than in the general population (*104*). Diabetes mellitus is also associated with delayed sputum conversion, treatment failure, relapse and death, and is considered a risk factor for MDR-TB (*105*).

In this review, there is wide variation in prevalence in the studies from Nepal and Pakistan (0.2% and 10%, respectively) (31,33). The extent of regular screening in both the population groups is not known. Older studies from India showed that patients with diabetes had a large proportion of known TB cases and the yield of additional cases (screening by symptoms at each visit followed by testing) was very poor (NNS=812) (106,107).

The 2018 guidelines from the Union recommend symptom screening be done at the initial visit for newly diagnosed diabetes patients and diagnosis by Xpert to detect RR-TB. X-ray-aided diagnosis played a part in the algorithm for screening patients with diabetes in Pakistan (*31*). Hence, screening by CXR could be recommended. Diagnosis should be done by Xpert and CXR used for clinical diagnosis. Appropriate investigations should be considered for EPTB.

#### 4. Homeless persons

*Rationale for considering homeless persons.* Most countries in SEA are experiencing urbanization. Large cities have a high proportion of homeless populations. For instance, according to India's 2011 Census, five metros – Mumbai, Kolkata, Bangalore, Delhi and Chennai – contribute to 26% of the country's homeless population. By some estimates, there are approximately 1.8 million homeless persons in India and approximately 3 million in Indonesia (*108*). Normally, these are "hard-to-reach" populations for the programme. In many industrialized countries, TB rates among the homeless were up to 20 times higher than the general population (*109*).

In one study included in this review, the proportion of TB patients was found to be 1661/100 000, which is much higher than in the general population (34). This is in line with the observations in developed countries. However, as seen elsewhere, treatment completion rates are poor in this group, further challenging ACF efforts. This group can be considered for ACF but appropriate planning and resource analysis are needed, given the size of this group and the fact that treatment follow up may be difficult. Considering the mobility of the group, screening and diagnosis should be done at one time. CXR with Xpert in a mobile van would thus be appropriate, as was done in the study. Participation by NGOs and food incentives would be important to help with completion of treatment.

#### 5. Migrants

*Rationale for considering migrants*. With urbanization, many countries have a significant proportion of their population as internal migrants. For instance, in India, this population is estimated to be about 30%. This mobile population is considered as "hard-to-reach" by local programmes.

Brick kiln workers are "seasonal migrants", working for 3–8 months every year. Smoke, heat and dust from brick kilns are one of the major causes of respiratory illness and symptoms.

Though all workers are exposed to dust and smoke, moulders are more likely to be directly exposed to dust while bakers have more proximal exposure to smoke.

Occupational risks should be considered among migrants and they should be considered for ACF. If the prevalence of symptoms is high, as in the case of brick kiln workers, screening can be done by any one of the four symptoms. Diagnosis can be done by Xpert or sputum microscopy. Participation by NGOs becomes important as the kilns are located far from the nearest village and health facilities. NGOs could also help in linking migrants with treatment facilities at the closest destination.

International migrants and refugees face similar challenges. They are underreported due to gaps in surveillance, treatment and resources (110, 111). NTPs will not only have to give them attention but also engage in cross-border collaboration.

#### 6. Congregate settings

Rationale for considering congregate settings. Some populations that are in congregate settings other than prisons are likely to be infected with TB and have the predisposition to develop active disease. This has been seen in the Republic of Korea as well as Tibetan children in India (38–40). Congregate settings are small groups but because of the high transmission in these conditions, screening can be highly effective. However, the choice of population should be guided by evidence. For instance, all schoolchildren should not be considered as being in a congregate setting and targeted for ACF as prevalence can be very low – 0.2% (NNS=495). Religion-affiliated boarding schools, orphanages, different welfare homes that have occupants from the low-income group can have the situation seen in the studies and should be carefully selected for screening. Selection can be guided by small studies before adoption of these populations for regular ACF activities.

Screening can be done by symptoms and CXR at entry. Regular screening can be done by symptoms. In case of children, TST/interferon gamma release assay (IGRA) can be used. Diagnosis can be done by Xpert as in the Tibetan study or smear microscopy as in the Korean study. Xpert helps in finding additional cases and RR-TB cases. ACF activity should not just be only for all boarders, but also include workers and caretakers. Multisectoral partnerships with advocacy will be important for including ACF activities on a regular basis.

#### 7. Children

*Rationale for considering children.* Globally, less than 10% of notified cases are children. Three studies (41–43) show a big gap in the identification of children in health facilities and describe different approaches to case-finding. ACF interventions in children can increase case notification and, conversely, investigating for TB in children can lead to the detection of infectious adult patients, called source case investigation.

Further evidence is needed for ACF among children in households, as discussed above. Multiple strategies, including health facility settings as well as community settings, should be considered. Involvement of NGOs and use of mobile vans can be considered, as in Nepal (42). Importantly, participation of trained medical staff or paediatricians will be required for this group for diagnosis as well as treatment.

Algorithms in children. National guidelines should be followed and, ideally, diagnosis should be done with CXR and Xpert. Studies such as the one of Tibetan schoolchildren in the congregate setting demonstrated the usefulness of TST and CXR (*38*). However, as seen in Nepal, screening by symptoms and TST, and diagnosis by CXR and sputum microscopy can also increase the yield.

### 8. Vulnerable and marginalized populations (those in urban slums and hard-to-reach areas, and tribals)

*Rationale for considering vulnerable populations.* Various prevalence surveys have shown that urban slums have a higher prevalence of TB than rural areas. Findings of a metaanalysis indicate that the odds of developing TB are almost five times higher in urban slums (112). Tribal or Indigenous populations are also included in this group as they live in hard-to-reach areas with challenges of access to health services.

The comparison across studies in this group is hard because of the heterogeneity of the group, with urban slum populations, tribals, the rural poor all considered together. The biggest study is Axshya, India, which covered 20 million people in 4.9 million households of urban slums, prisoners, tribal and other vulnerable populations (44). Three other studies covered multiple populations though none of them were as big as Axshya (33,45,46).

Axshya and other studies led to an increase in case notification. However, the NNS was high (i.e. many people needed to be screened in order to diagnose one TB case), except when the population had a high HIV prevalence or in select population groups.

The total contribution of cases and its impact on national case notification will depend on the size of these population groups and extent of their coverage with ACF. For high population coverage, it is important that ACF strategies are cost effective. In a high-prevalence group, screening can be done by 2 weeks of cough and, if costs permit, digital mobile CXR with or without the software can be added (Philippines) (45). Diagnosis should preferably be done by Xpert but if resources do not permit, consider sputum microscopy. Two weeks of cough and sputum microscopys seem to be a reasonable strategy for urban slums (Philippines) as well as for rural remote populations (Papua New Guinea) (55). Screening with symptoms and CXR, and diagnosis by Xpert gives the best results.

Sputum collection and transportation is a better option than referring patients to the health facility for testing but covering large sections of the population will need careful planning and management. Training of personnel, preparation of communities and other

arrangements for optimum community participation and to contain drop-outs from the study can be a massive operation.

#### 9. General population

*Rationale for considering the general population.* WHO gives a conditional recommendation for communitywide screening for active TB only in geographically defined subpopulations with high levels of undetected TB (prevalence of 1% or more). Thus, select groups of the general population tend to overlap with vulnerable populations (limited access). Heterogeneous population groups have been included in this review. Cambodia and China targeted the elderly population but had different results (*56,60*). In India, ACF was done in the rural population in one state and it was evident that a significant contribution was made to smear-negative case notification because access to X-ray was poor (*63*). This study is also one of the two examples of an ACF intervention by the private sector, the other being from Pakistan (*77*).

As for vulnerable populations, a high NNS was seen in the studies considered in the general population. Not all ACF will identify large numbers of people with TB and there was considerable heterogeneity in the results, which underlines the importance of selecting the population to be screened and choice of screening algorithms. ACF in the general population requires careful consideration of costs and efforts against the expected yield. Certain groups such as pregnant women should not be included, as was clear from the two studies in this review (58,66). However, this can be contextualized as per expert opinion and country needs. The factors to consider for ACF in the general population are the same as those mentioned for vulnerable populations.

## C. Factors that influence the guidance for planning or implementation of ACF

Factors that influence the guidance for ACF are (i) rigour of the study, (ii) selection of population groups, (iii) accuracy and yield of the algorithm, (iv) duration of ACF efforts, (v) implementation arrangements, and (vi) costs.

(i) **Rigour of the study**. Community-based randomized controlled trials offer robust evidence and few such studies have been done in the world and none in the SEA Region. This review included studies from Viet Nam (11) and Cambodia (12) on household contacts and from Philippines (45) and China (57) on multiple population groups. This review also included large multiprovincial studies from the Axshya project (44) and multidistrict studies from India (54,63). Studies from other SEA countries (Bangladesh, Indonesia, Myanmar, Nepal and Thailand) over the past five years have also been included. There is a predominance of Indian studies and many SEA countries such as Bhutan, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Sri Lanka and Timor-Leste have no published studies in the past five years.

(ii) Population groups. ACF in household contacts seems to be the most promising in terms of proven increase in case-finding and consistent methodology through community trials. NTPs can consider screening those who have been household contacts of patients for the past two years in alternate years, with the added benefit of introducing TPT. The challenge of screening children during household ACF will remain.

While selection of other population groups such as children is important, multiple approaches to identification and targeting of groups will be required, which are specific to the country context. These are given in the Recommendations section.

The advice is to first begin with easily identifiable high-risk target groups, and then widen the scope as resources allow (113). it is important to understand that the *size of the population group will also play an important role in determining if the ACF activities will impact the national case notification rate.* The groups with the highest risk for TB, if small in size, would yield a smaller number of absolute TB cases than ACF in a bigger-sized group with only a moderately elevated risk. The success of ACF activities also depends on the proportion of undiagnosed cases in the risk groups and the algorithm used for screening.

- (iii) Algorithms. More experience is required under field conditions but based on the rigorously carried out studies in the Philippines (45), Cambodia (60) and by NIRT, India (16), screening by symptoms and CXR and diagnosis by Xpert can be considered as a first option. In high-prevalence and low-resource settings, screening by symptoms and diagnosis by sputum microscopy can still be considered as the yield of ACF is expected to be *additional* to that of the programme (8).
- (iv) Duration of ACF efforts. It is clear from the studies in Cambodia and China that ACF efforts have to be continued beyond two years (12,57). There is some evidence from an old study in a European country that ACF efforts, when continued for four years alongside a well-functioning PCF programme, resulted in a huge decrease in prevalence (from 150 cases in 1960 to 91 in 1964) but the incidence of smear-positive TB stayed at 25 cases in the study population (10).
- (v) Implementation arrangements for ACF. Implementation of ACF is as important as the choice of screening and diagnostic algorithm or perhaps even more. A highly sensitive and specific algorithm will be compromised if there is a drop-out between the stages of screening and diagnosis (could be as high as 50% (35,44)); or between diagnosis and treatment (63); or between treatment initiation and treatment completion. An algorithm with 90% accuracy resulting in only 50% of patients initiated on treatment will be as good as an algorithm with half the yield but with all the patients started on treatment.
- (vi) Costing of ACF. Cost comparison across countries is difficult. For TB REACH projects, a standardized tool is being developed to compare ACF interventions across different countries. Some general principles can be learnt from this review.

Almost half the costs are due to diagnostics (CXR and Xpert). Costs associated with CXR can be decreased by using a digital reader and thus avoiding printing of films. A digital reader along with a portable X-ray machine and mobile van lead to high capital costs. Recurring costs are those of cartridges (about US\$ 10 per cartridge), personnel and travel costs (travel stipend to the staff, fuel costs). The Cambodia study showed that even with the use of CXR and Xpert, ACF remains cost effective (*12*). None of the studies in the review included the costs of added workload in the NTP laboratories, which would need to be offset with additional staff for a sustained programme.

#### D. Advantages of ACF and its cost–effectiveness

Community randomized trials from Brazil (114), Zambia and South Africa (115) have shown that 3–5 years of ACF in household contacts helps to reduce disease in adults and infections in children. Targeted case-finding for TB and prompt initiation of treatment is recommended in low-incidence, high-resource settings but there is an argument for using the same epidemiological approach in high-incidence, low-resource settings (7). This is because TB medications almost immediately render the patient non-infectious, thereby breaking the chain of transmission.

ACF leads to an increase in overall case notification, as seen in some of the studies reviewed in this paper from India (44,50,63), Myanmar (51), Cambodia (12) and China (68). Based on modelling, it is predicted that an increase in case detection by 25% will lead to a reduction in incidence by 22–27% in 10 years; and even if the interventions cost US\$ 2500 per case detected in India, and US\$ 5000 per case detected in China and South Africa, they are still expected to be cost effective because the population-level benefits of ACF accumulate with time as additional cases are prevented (116). By another model, if the level of case detection due to the intervention is sustained for 5 years, 24% of cases would be averted, and if the case detection is not sustained, then too, 13% of the cases would be averted. The reduction in mortality will be almost twofold (117). A study from China (57) showed a significant decline in case notification in five years after three rounds of ACF in comparison to the PCF districts.

Modelling thus far has not considered preventive therapy in children and in adults. While the inclusion of preventive treatment will add to the cost but, with further decrease in transmission due to decreased progress from LTBI to active disease, the cost–effectiveness will improve.

#### E. Treatment outcomes

There have been concerns that motivation for and adherence to treatment could be low, as patients found by ACF have mild or no symptoms. In the studies included in the review, treatment outcomes have generally not been compromised. A review stated that the effect of ACF on treatment outcomes needs to be further evaluated with a sufficiently powered study (89). The district-level study from Haridwar, India showed low treatment outcomes (81). The district also showed high initial loss to follow up, as did the study from the Philippines (45). Important factors that determined low treatment success rate were elderly and Indigenous populations, the rural poor and patients with RR-TB (Haridwar and Philippines). Haridwar, a holy town, also had a large proportion of migrants. A decrease in successful treatment outcomes can compromise the effectiveness of ACF activities. It is, therefore, important for an ACF intervention to work with a high-quality surveillance system and monitor outcomes on an ongoing basis. Additionally, ACF should be viewed as a comprehensive package for the targeted group, with treatment support as an important component. Closer monitoring and supervision should be an integral part of the ACF package. Ongoing operational research on treatment outcome for ACF in different population groups and settings will be helpful. The high initial loss to follow up in Haridwar, India and Philippines was not explained but is likely due to migration in the former.

#### F. Considerations for ACF

Although ACF is a recommended intervention, it is important that the following suggestions by different authors are considered (8,9):

- (i) ACF should be implemented while achieving implementation efficiency of TB programmes, including optimal availability of CXR and Xpert in health facilities. In hard-to-reach populations such as slums, NTPs should ensure an outpost/CV or a local private provider for provision of regular services for sputum collection and transportation, and coordination for treatment with the local TB unit. Providing free diagnostic services in the private sector and ensuring widespread availability of Xpert will also help in increasing case-finding (9).
- (ii) ACF should not be conducted at the expense of the TB programme. Staff and diagnostic resources for ACF should be additional to those already in place for PCF. In other words, patients found by ACF should be additional to those found by PCF. Diversion of resources or loss of implementation efficiency of TB programmes in health facilities implies a potential loss of that additional case-finding (9).
- (iii) ACF should be conducted in the context of a good TB control programme to ensure that patients found with the intervention are linked to effective treatment.
- (iv) Coordination of ACF and prevention activities should be considered.
- (v) ACF should not result in harm to the patients (for example, by a false diagnosis of TB and unnecessary treatment) (8,9).

# 5 Monitoring of ACF activities

This section is based on a review of studies included in this paper and a review article by Ho et al. (113).

#### Monitoring ongoing ACF activities

- 1. Monitor the NNS for each group of the population where ACF is carried out.
- 2. Compare the NNS with the costs of covering the population group.
- 3. Monitor the effectiveness of ACF drop-outs between screening and diagnosis, dropouts between diagnosis and treatment (initial loss to follow up or treatment initiation rates), loss to follow up from treatment.
- 4. Monitor whether there was an additional increase in notification of bacteriologically positive or all forms of cases when ACF activities were carried out compared to the previous year (or in comparison to a control district). (This is different from measuring the direct yield of ACF.)

#### Medium-term measures (1-2 years or over 1-2 rounds)

- 5. Treatment outcomes in ACF cases versus PCF cases
- 6. Reduced time to initiation of treatment in ACF cases versus PCF cases (operational research)
- 7. Notification trend over the next 3–5 years. The initial measure will be an increase in case-finding/notification as compared to the trend in the past in the intervention area and in comparison to a control district. This will mostly be seen as a result of finding more prevalent cases. As this goes down after 1–2 rounds of ACF in the group, notification will be expected to decrease (10). This is also considered as a long-term indicator as it is dependent on the local epidemiology and ACF efforts.

#### Long-term measures (over 3–5 years)

- 8. Reduced morbidity and mortality as the disease is identified earlier
- 9. Reduced transmission in the community as evidenced by a decreased prevalence of TB infection in children
- 10. Reduced prevalence of TB disease in the community. Should also incorporate population-level effects and cost–effectiveness estimates using a long-term time frame.
- 11. The number of operational research or small pilot studies carried out in the country should be based on earlier ACF experience. As transmission decreases in the community, the NNS will increase and a modification in strategy might be needed to decrease costs and remain cost effective. At the very least, one needs to review the ACF data (yield, treatment outcomes, etc.) and costs to focus on the End-TB target.

# Recommendations for implementing ACF

6

It is important to note that the *impact of ACF interventions will depend on the scale, frequency and choice of population groups*. ACF interventions have to be implemented repeatedly and thus should:

- 1. include a reasonably accurate algorithm,
- 2. select appropriate population groups, and
- 3. be cost effective to remain sustainable over repeated rounds.

Cost will be the defining consideration but ACF is a cost-effective strategy (97).

- 1. Increase the efficiency of the process
  - (a) Prefer on-site availability of diagnostic and treatment initiation services during ACF activities over referral to a health centre to minimize loss to follow up during referral. In case this cannot be arranged, there is a need to ensure that the referral is supported financially and/or someone accompanies the person to guide and ensure quick attention at the health facility.
  - (b) Monitor ACF activities using digital and virtual platforms such as a digital registration system to initiate and follow up those initiated on treatment. Digital platforms can also be used to monitor ACF activities for yield, tracking of patients from identification to screening to diagnosis to completion of treatment, and to finding contacts and drop-outs, and to improve future activities.
  - (c) Compare the yield of different algorithms and ensure the ability to initiate all diagnosed patients on treatment. If implementation capacity and funding is limited, focus on groups with a high prevalence where a smaller number of persons are required to be screened to get a high yield. A high yield but no follow up on initiation of treatment (or preventive therapy) for those who are eligible must be avoided.
  - (d) Invest in operational research and innovation for ACF pooling of sputum samples for rapid molecular diagnostics, use of rapid molecular diagnostics as a first test, and ACF for TB and diabetes. If feasible, consider mathematical modelling for predicting the population-level impact, cost–effectiveness and optimal duration and frequency of specific ACF interventions.
- 2. Select the right population groups
  - (a) TB control programmes should begin with easily identifiable high-risk target groups and then widen their scope of activities as resources allow (113).
  - (b) Analyse programme data and, where available, prevalence survey data to identify the population groups with a high estimated prevalence of or risk factors for TB (110). Modelling transmission dynamics can help with estimation

of the direct impact of spatial targeting on those screened as well as indirect impact on transmission.

- (c) Review previous such activities in the country to help identify appropriate population groups.
- (d) Prioritize groups with the highest prevalence such as household contacts and those in congregate settings such as prisons, workers exposed to silica and organic textile dust and the homeless.
- (e) Choose the appropriate population size. A small group with a high prevalence will contribute fewer cases than a large group with a moderate prevalence.

Some of the priority population groups such as health-care workers have not been included in this evidence synthesis because of lack of quality publications on ACF among this group from the SEA Region in the past five years. However, the basic principle remains the same of using a sensitive algorithm such as CXR with GeneXpert when resources permit.

3. Select algorithms with an eye on affordability and repetitive rounds of ACF (Table 2)

From the review, it seems that an algorithm composed of CXR screening followed by confirmatory testing with Xpert is the first choice. A review of the costs of ACF implementation in the past five years show that rapid molecular diagnostics and CXR can account for as much as 50% of the total costs. However, studies have also shown this algorithm to be cost effective. In the ACF interventions based on symptom screening and sputum microscopy, personnel are the most expensive cost heads. Therefore, the choices for selection of algorithms must be strategic and may vary according to populations and resources. Some general considerations for addressing affordability are as follows:

- (a) Use algorithms based on CXR as the first screening tool. These may be costly but are more sensitive in small populations such as prisoners.
- (b) Use algorithms with rapid molecular diagnostics in household contacts, as these are highly sensitive tests and able to diagnose resistance early.
- (c) When resources are limited, use symptom screening and sputum microscopy in a large population with a high prevalence. Clinical screening and diagnosis should be an important component of the screening process. Even in these populations, it should be important to remember that many cases will be missed and they will continue to spread the disease in the community. (This algorithm has been used in remote tribal populations in this review.) Additionally, one needs to be aware of the recent developments in diagnostics, which can make the algorithms feasible and affordable universally. However, if resources permit, CXR as screening tool and GeneXpert as a diagnostic tool may be used.

- (d) Integrate ACF with other health activities in the community, for example, screening for NCDs as well as for providing preventive treatment in eligible populations.
- 4. Monitor ACF activities for yield and drop-outs, as well as their intermediate and long-term effects on additional case notification, treatment outcomes and mortality. Regular monitoring will help with modification of algorithms, achieving cost–effectiveness and efficiency in operations.



# 7 Limitations

- 1. One of the major limitations of this study was that the scope of work changed midway. This was partly because of the pandemic, which prevented discussions with the countries on their experiences.
- 2. Studies from Africa were not included, primarily because the HIV prevalence is high and therefore the situation is different. Only a few studies from Latin American countries are included.
- 3. PLHIV could not be studied because only two studies were available from the initial search from SEA and Asia. With a subsequent fresh attempt, it was felt that a separate comprehensive search was needed on multiple parameters to do justice to the topic. Finally, because regular screening for TB is recommended in PLHIV for which guidance is available, this group was dropped from this paper.
- 4. The limitations in the studies reviewed were as follows:
  - (a) The method of calculating NNS could be different across studies (e.g. (51) considered NNS among presumptive cases), and many studies did not give NNS.
  - (b) Multiple publications for the same study, e.g. Axshya study had publications for the overall study and state-wise study. This might bias the understanding and recommendations. Similarly, some studies on ACF implementation had separate publications on different aspects, which were not always connected/referred to or they were published more than 5 years ago. This led to suboptimal understanding.
  - (c) Few studies looked at the population-level impact on notifications and none on the incidence of TB.
- 5. Substantial heterogeneity among the studies reviewed made it difficult to come to a conclusion about ACF on the whole. Most population groups had very few studies, which were mostly observational.
- 6. ACF studies for the past five years in all the population groups are a heterogeneous mix. This mix does not give a large enough number of studies to analyse and draw conclusions for certain groups such as children, migrants, the homeless and those in congregate settings as there are very few studies.
- 7. Some countries had not published any ACF studies in the past five years (Bhutan, DPR Korea, Maldives, Sri Lanka and Timor-Leste) and some had very few (Bangladesh and Indonesia). ACF has likely been implemented in all the countries but since these are not published, their experiences are not reviewed, resulting in a bias.
- There is a substantial risk of bias because of the observational design of most studies. In each subgroup, except for household studies, mostly observational studies have been included.

Because of these limitations, the recommendations of this report/review need to be interpreted with caution. Policy recommendations must consider evidence of the cost–effectiveness and the overall impact on case-finding. At the regional and global levels, there is a need for investment in well-designed, robust randomized studies in specific population groups. Operational research is also needed for improving implementation in the field.

53

### Annexures

**Table 1:** Studies reviewed for population groups with algorithms and operationalization, and costs (n=number of studies)

S. no.	Study focus	Studies reviewed from SEA (n)	Studies reviewed from other Asian countries (n)	Studies from rest of the world
1.	Household contacts (Urban/ Rural)	Indonesia (1) India (4)	Viet Nam (2) Cambodia (1) Republic of Korea (1) Malaysia (1)	
2.	Prisons	India (1) Thailand (1) Bangladesh (1)	Malaysia (1) Pakistan (2)	Ethiopia (1) Iran (Islamic Republic of) (1) Brazil (1)
3	Diabetes	Nepal (1)	Pakistan (2)	
4.	Homeless & migrants	India (3) Nepal (1)		
5.	Children	India (1) Nepal (1)	Pakistan (1)	
6.	Congregate settings	India (2) Nepal, one study among multiple population groups	Republic of Korea (1)	
7.	Vulnerable populations	Urban slums, tribals, rural poor in India (7) Myanmar (2) Nepal (one study among multiple population groups)	Papua New Guinea (1) Philippines (1); Health-care workers in Pakistan (1)	
8.	General population	India (4) Thailand (1)	China (3) Cambodia (1) Pakistan (2)	
9.	Treatment outcome	India (3) Myanmar (2)	Peru (1) Cambodia (2) Philippines (1)	
10.	Costing	India (1)	Cambodia & Tajikistan (1) Zimbabwe (1) Viet Nam (1)	
S. no.	Study focus	Studies reviewed from SEA (n)	Studies reviewed from other Asian countries (n)	Studies from rest of the world
--------	-----------------------------------	----------------------------------	---	-----------------------------------
11.	Catastrophic costs	India (2) Nepal (1)	Cambodia (1)	
12.	Review & background reading	14		

 Table 1 gives the following information:

- 10 studies were on ACF in household contacts of index cases (five from the SEA Region, five from other countries in Asia).
- Nine studies were on ACF in prisons (three from the SEA Region, three from other countries in Asia and three from other countries outside Asia).
- 25 studies were on ACF in populations with difficulty in access, those that were hard to reach or vulnerable (tribals, migrants, persons with diabetes, children, the homeless) (18 from the SEA Region and seven from other countries in Asia).
- 11 studies were on ACF in the general population, including the elderly, and pregnant women (four from SEA and six from other countries in Asia).
- Costing was informed by a total of 12 studies.
- Catastrophic costs were mentioned by three studies.
- 14 studies were for review or background reading. These included studies from Africa and low-incidence countries, and opinion pieces by experts.

### Table 2: Active case-finding in household contacts

S. no. and country	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population group
1. Viet Nam 70 districts (11) Urban and rural	Screening was done in those with 2 weeks of cough, 2 weeks of sputum, any haemoptysis and chest X-ray suggestive of TB	Diagnosis was by sputum microscopy	1788/100 000
2. Cambodia <i>(12)</i>	First screening by any four symptoms at home by community volunteer	Xpert on same day for those with abnormal chest X-ray	Not known but 19% additional cases (all forms) and 10% additional cases bacteriologically positive in the intervention districts
	Second screening by any symptom by clinicians at health facility and chest X-ray on same day		
3. Republic of Korea <i>(13)</i> Urban	Screening chest X-ray or sputum test for TB and a tuberculin skin or QuantiFERON-TB Gold In-tube test for latent tuberculosis infection in contacts	Sputum microscopy	2-year incidence was 1.1% (at 1 year, 883 per 100 000 compared to 70 in general population)
4. Indonesia (14)	Cough for more than 2 weeks. Two interventions were	Sputum microscopy	In (i) 5100 screened, 48 identified but 38 gave samples and 0 diagnosed;
Gandung city (includes 139 villages)	to-house ACF, and (ii) household contacts and neighbourhood were screened		and 423 neighbours screened, 4 had symptoms and 0 had TB.
5. India, Kashmir <i>(15)</i>	Symptoms	Sputum microscopy	4.50%

S. no. and country	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population group
6. India, Chennai <i>(16)</i>	All contacts who were willing to participate had CXR and were evaluated for any symptoms	Sputum microscopy & culture/drug susceptibility testing	5.3% (29/544) (Note: number needed to screen [NNS] is 19) (In this study, 71 had abnormal CXRs, of whom 50 had symptoms and 21 were asymptomatic. Of those asymptomatic, 3 had extrapulmonary TB (EPTB); of those symptomatic, more than 50%, i.e. 23 had sputum microscopy+ and 3 culture and drug sensitivity testing).
7. India, Chhattisgarh <i>(20)</i> Rural	Symptom (cough for 2 weeks, fever, weight loss)	Sputum microscopy & CXR (for those negative by sputum microscopy)	1.01%
8. Malaysia <i>(17)</i> Urban	First screening by tuberculin skin test Second screening by CXR	Sputum microscopy	1.50%
9. Viet Nam <i>(18)</i>	First screening by clinical assessment	Xpert if symptom or	99 index cases (with R resistance)
(for multidrug- resistant TB	(any symptom suggestive of TB); if negative then CXR	CXR positive	Their 417 contacts were investigated (of these, 292 were household contacts)
[ואסא-ואסוי)	CXR		At enrolment, 48 were presumed cases
			Of these, 1 of 417 had drug- sensitive [DS]-TB)
			At 6 months, 27 of 160 had presumptive TB
			Of these, 0 were diagnosed to have TB
10. India <i>(19)</i> Urban (for MDR-TB <b>)</b>	Symptoms	Xpert	34 of 4771 contacts were diagnosed to have TB; of these, 15 had rifampicin-resistant (RR) TB

Note. Please see Table 8 for Nepal data on household contacts.

## Table 3: Active case-finding among prisoners

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups in the studies
1. Thailand (Suratthani Central Prison) Jul–Dec 2015 <i>(27</i> )	Questionnaire (4 symptoms, past history, etc.) & chest X-ray	Sputum microscopy & Xpert	The prevalence of TB disease in the prison was 2.1% or 2096/100 000; prevalence of bacteriologically positive TB was 1.5% (prevalence was 10 times higher than in the general population)
2. Bangladesh (Dhaka Central Jail), October 2005 to February 2010 <i>(28)</i>	Cough for more than 3 weeks	Sputum microscopy, culture & drug susceptibility testing as well as genotyping	Not given by authors. Difficult to calculate because of different time periods. Authors published elsewhere the results from 2005 to 2008, which gave the prevalence as 222/100 000 – 21 times higher than in the general population
3. India <i>(25)</i>	Symptom screening (2 weeks cough)	Sputum microscopy	80 additional patients were found (study does not give the number of existing TB patients, which could be more than 102)
			Number of prisoners: 5093
			Number identified by screening: 1149 (19%)
			Number identified by diagnosis: (only 84% of presumptive TB patients had sputum microscopy) – 80 diagnosed to have TB
4. Pakistan, Karachi <i>(29)</i>	Chest X-ray with computer- aided detection for TB	Xpert	Tuberculosis yield was 1.8% of screened patients (& 25% of presumptive cases)
5. Pakistan, Baluchistan <i>(24)</i>	Digital X-ray with computer- aided detection for TB	Xpert	1% (5 of 567)
6. Malaysia <i>(21)</i>	Any symptom	Sputum microscopy, Xpert and liquid culture	8.5% (48 of 559) overall (but 7.7% if only newly diagnosed considered)
7. Ethiopia <i>(22)</i>	Symptom screening (2 weeks cough)	Sputum microscopy, Xpert	1789 per 100 000 (including 5 existing patients with pulmonary TB) (derived as 1.8%)

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups in the studies
8. Brazil <i>(23)</i>	Cough any duration and chest X-ray	Sputum microscopy, culture & drug susceptibility testing	1898 per 100 000 (derived as 1.8%)
9. Tehran <i>(26)</i>	Symptoms	Sputum microscopy	0.13%

Note. Please see Table 8 for data on prisoners from Nepal and Philippines.

**Note**. In Baluchistan, 82 (14%) jail staff and 129 (23%) staff's family members were among those screened (63% were prisoners). None of the studies had done secondary screening.

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups in the studies
1. Pakistan <i>(32)</i> Patients with diabetes	Verbal screening	Chest X-ray, Xpert MTB/ RIF test	Prevalence not known. Uptake of testing by presumptive TB cases among those with diabetes attending the clinic was 5.9%. (This study was a pilot for the study at S. no. 2).
2. Pakistan <i>(31)</i> Patients with diabetes	Digital chest X-ray with computer-aided detection for TB	Xpert (even X-ray could be considered)	10% (375 of 3824) (54/1428=3.7% among newly diagnosed TB); 13.3% among known patients with diabetes
3. Nepal <i>(33)</i>	Symptoms	Sputum microscopy	Note: NNS is 510
Patients with diabetes		If negative, then Xpert MTB/RIF	(2 of 1019 were positive by smear microscopy)

**Table 4:** Active case-finding in patients with diabetes

Note. None of the studies did secondary screening.

#### **Table 5:** Active case-finding in homeless persons and migrants

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population group
1. India, Chennai <i>(34)</i> Homeless	Any 1 of 4 symptoms + MMR	Sputum microscopy and culture	1661/100 000
2. India, Tamil Nadu <i>(35)</i> Migrant brick kiln workers	Any one of the 4 symptoms	Not done	
3. India <i>(36)</i> Migrant brick kiln workers	Any one of the four symptoms	Chest X-ray, sputum microscopy & Xpert	0.2%
4. Nepal <i>(37)</i> Migrant brick kiln workers	Chronic cough	Not done	NA

Note. None of the studies had done secondary screening;

#### **Table 6:** Active case-finding in congregate settings

S.no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups in the studies
1. Republic of Korea (40) Congregate settings (schools, health facility, workplace, social welfare settings, etc.)	Chest X-ray & latent TB infection (LTBI) screening for contacts; LTBI screening, tuberculin skin test or interferon gamma release assay (IGRA) (TST +ve if induration of ≥10 mm (≥5 mm in newborns with no BCG). IGRA was QuantiFERON-TB Gold In- tube test, +ve if 0.35 IU or more	Sputum microscopy	146/100 000 person-years
2. India, Himachal Pradesh <i>(38)</i> Tibetan refugee children	First screening by symptoms and clinical exam (tuberculin skin test for TB infection) Second screening by chest X-ray	Xpert, culture and chest X-ray (for clinically diagnosed)	853/100 000 among Tibetan school students

S.no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups in the studies
3. India (Himachal, Karnataka & Uttarakhand) <i>(39)</i> Tibetan refugee schoolchildren, monks and nuns who live in congregate settings	First screening by symptoms Second screening by chest X-ray	Sputum microscopy if no history of contact or past history of TB (Xpert for those with past history of TB and contacts)	346 cases/ 100 000persons

## Table 7: Active case-finding in children

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Dx confirmed by	NNS	Proportion of TB observed in the population group
1. Pakistan, health facility, children (43) Children (intervention was in a rural setting and engaged four public sector hospitals)	Any 1 of 4 symptoms, contact with person with TB for previous 2 years, lymph node enlargement	Chest X-ray, sputum Xpert; complete blood count & erythrocyte sedimentation rate, ultrasound		Prevalence of all forms of childhood TB was 1332 per 100 000 (1.3%) at the participating health facilities. Prevalence of childhood TB in contacts was (12 940/100 000) ( <i>see</i> box below)
2. India, Bihar <i>(41)</i> Children with severe acute malnutrition	Tuberculin skin test, chest X-ray, sputum		11	The equivalent of 89 TB cases per 1000 children screened

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Dx confirmed by	NNS	Proportion of TB observed in the population group
3. Nepal (7 intervention districts) <i>(42)</i> Children	Symptoms, chest X-ray, sputum		Number needed to identify 1 TB case was 41 in two days. Mobile health camp strategy in hard-to- reach areas, 44 in public– private mix (PPM) services (diagnosis by private practitioners and treated at government centres), 108 in household screening, and 200 during community home-based care visits	

Table 8: ACF in vulnerable and marginalized populations

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Prevalence of TB in the studies
1. Philippines, Palawan <i>(45)</i>	Symptoms & chest X-ray	2 spot samples – sputum	Overall 33 (45 for rural	
Rural poor, rural, urban areas, prisons, Indigenous population, high school		microscopy x 2 samples with LED-fluorescent microscopy (LED-FM) and Xpert test with one sample	poor, 48 for urban poor; 16 for prisons, 34 for Indigenous population and 495 for high school)	

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Prevalence of TB in the studies
2. Nepal (29 municipalities in 22 districts) (33) Urban slum dwellers, factory workers, prisoners, refugees, monks/nuns, people living with HIV (voluntary counselling and testing centres [VCTCs]), household contacts and patients with diabetes (clinics)	2 weeks cough (only for people living with HIV any symptom)	Sputum microscopy (Xpert if sputum microscopy negative)	NNS for people living with HIV -17 Household contacts – 29 Slums – 197 Prisoners – 261 Factory workers – 334 Refugees – 309 Diabetes – 510	
3. India, Karnataka (46) Urban slums, mobile population & tribes, people living at construction sites	Any 1 of 4 symptoms	Sputum microscopy (also did chest X-ray & Xpert where required)		29 TB patients diagnosed of 152 342 (19/100 000)
4. India <i>(44)</i> Urban slum, rural and tribal population	2 weeks of cough	Sputum microscopy (one morning, one spot) at the health facility		Prevalence was 8% among those who underwent sputum examination (14 447 smear- positive cases in 4.9 million households)
5. India, Agra <i>(48)</i> Urban slums	2 weeks of cough	Sputum microscopy		7 TB patients of 21 870 (32/100 000)

	S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Prevalence of TB in the studies
	6. India, Kolkata <i>(49)</i> Urban slums	Any 1 of 4 symptoms	Sputum microscopy, chest X-ray and Xpert (as per national guidelines)	2183 (177 out of 386 242)	
	7. India, Karnataka <i>(50)</i> Vulnerable populations (based on caste, tribal population, slums)	Cough for 2 weeks	Sputum microscopy		Number of smear-positive TB cases increased by 8.8% compared to pre- intervention period (658 cases in a population of 34 million)
_	8. Myanmar <i>(51)</i> Hard-to-reach areas (rural, hilly)	First screening by any 1 of 4 symptoms Second screening by chest X-ray	Sputum microscopy (2 samples) and Xpert	Approximately 4700 (504 out of 2 400 000)	
	9. Myanmar (52) Hard-to- reach areas (townships) household and neighbourhood intervention (household) and community intervention	Any 1 of 4 symptoms	Chest X-ray (if sputum microscopy negative), sputum microscopy, GeneXpert (in 2 sites)	766 (house- holds and neighbour- hoods) & 166 (community)	
	10. India (2 tuberculosis units [TUs] of a district for intervention, 2 TUs for control) <i>(53)</i> Tribal population (Saharia community)	Any 1 of 4 symptoms	Sputum microscopy (2 samples)		1.5%

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Prevalence of TB in the studies
11. India, Jharkhand 15 districts (36 TUs) <i>(54)</i> Marginalized and vulnerable populations	Symptoms	Sputum microscopy		At baseline, the case notification rate (CNR) was lower in districts selected for ACF than the non-ACF districts. After ACF, CNR increased in both ACF and non-ACF districts, more in former. After ACF was over, CNR in ACF districts went back to being lower than in non-ACF districts.
12. Papua New Guinea <i>(55)</i> 26 villages with poor access	First screening by symptoms Second screening by symptoms & clinical examination	Sputum microscopy		Prevalence of smear-positive TB was 0.9%
13. Pakistan, Multan <i>(47)</i> Doctors and other hospital staff	Tuberculin skin test	Sputum microscopy, Xpert, chest X-ray		10%

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups
1. China <i>(56)</i> Elderly >65 years (rural)	First screening by symptoms (2 weeks cough) at home visit & risk assessment Second screening: referred for chest-X ray if symptoms or risk factor present	Sputum microscopy & culture (one spot sample & referral for two more		146 tuberculosis cases per 100 000 seniors (lower than the expected 502 in this group)
2. China (57) Retrospective cohort of 10 communities between 2013 and 2015	First screening by symptoms (2 weeks cough) at home visit & risk assessment Second screening by chest X-ray	Three samples for sputum microscopy	Cumulative NNS were 34, 39 and 29 in HIV/ AIDS-infected individuals, people with symptoms suggestive of TB and history of previous TB, respectively, compared to 1478 in the general population	
3. China <i>(59)</i> Rural (2 sites)	First screening by any one of four symptoms Second screening by chest X-ray	Three samples for sputum microscopy, Lowenstein– Jensen culture, Xpert		475 and 196 per 100000 population of the 2 sites
4. Cambodia <i>(60)</i> Elderly (>55 years) rural	Symptoms & chest-X ray	Xpert and culture	87 to one diagnosed Xpert-positive case	

## **Table 9:** Active case-finding in the general population

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups
5. Pakistan <i>(61)</i> Rural areas of four districts	Symptoms	Sputum microscopy	260 in simple chest camp (SCC) and 258 in infotainment chest camp (ICC)	
6. Thailand <i>(62)</i> Hua Hin district	Any 1 of 4 symptoms, risk assessment and chest X-ray	Sputum microscopy & CXR	Calculated as 123	
7. India, Haryana, (public–private partnership [PPP]) <i>(63)</i> Rural	2 weeks cough	Strategy 1 – sputum microscopy and CXR only if sputum microscopy negative; Strategy 2 – CXR & sputum microscopy for all persons with chest symptoms		Strategy 1 – 11% of 1609 presumptive TB patients Strategy 2 – 8% of 1731
8. India, Haryana, (PPP) <i>(64)</i> Rural	2 weeks cough	Strategy 1 – sputum microscopy and CXR only if sputum microscopy is negative Strategy 2 – CXR & sputum microscopy for all persons with chest symptoms		Strategy 1 – 121 were presumptive or CXR suggestive, of whom 39 diagnosed as TB but 24 started on treatment Strategy 2 – 596 were presumptive or CXR suggestive. Of these, 67 (including 11 bacteriologically positive) were diagnosed to have TB

67

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups
9. India, Haryana, (PPP) <i>(65)</i> Rural	Cough for more than 2 weeks	CXR & sputum microscopy (Xpert if sputum microscopy negative and CXR positive)		284 TB patients diagnosed of 2973 presumptive TB cases (161 bacteriologically positive, 106 clinically diagnosed and 17 extrapulmonary TB [EPTB])
				2973 presumptive TB patients underwent CXR and sputum microscopy; 471 (15.8%) had abnormal CXR findings suggestive of TB, 129 (4.3%) were smear-positive and 17 were EPTB
				325 had abnormal CXR but were smear-negative. Of these, 147 (45.2%) had Xpert testing, yielding 32 positives (21.8%). For 178, Xpert test was not done but 106 (60.0%) of them
				had CXR suggestive of TB (clinically diagnosed TB)
				Thus, a total of 284 cases of TB (161 microbiologically confirmed, 106 clinically diagnosed, 17 EPTB) were identified, giving a potential diagnostic yield of 19.6%

S. no. and country/ setting	Screening by	Diagnosis confirmed by	NNS	Proportion of TB observed in the population groups
10. India <i>(66)</i> Pregnant	First screening by symptoms	Sputum microscopy		0.02% (20 per 100 000)
women	Second screening by CXR			
11. Pakistan, Karachi <i>(58)</i>	Verbal symptomatic	GeneXpert test (sputum culture		Calculated as 0.05% (50 per
Pregnant women in urban area	screening followed by sputum samples	and shielded CXRs in two other sites)		100 000)

**Table 10:** Results of evidence synthesis of ACF based on studies from South-East Asia (SEA) and the rest of Asia, published in the past five years (2015–May 2020): findings on prevalence and population groups with suggestions for algorithms

S. no	Population group	Algorithm for consideration	Remarks
1.	Households	Screening by cough of any duration and CXR + diagnosis by rapid molecular diagnostics	Household contact-tracing is done under programme conditions. To supplement this with ACF, household contacts from 2 years ago can be included. ACF in households contributes additional cases to districts (community-based trials in Viet Nam, Cambodia). Consider repeating every alternate year. Can add neighbourhood contacts with symptoms.
2.	Prisons	Screening by symptoms and CXR + diagnosis by rapid molecular diagnostics	Prevalence in prisons can vary depending on overcrowding and practice of screening at entry; rapid molecular diagnostics help in identifying RR-TB.
3.	Diabetes patients	Screening by CXR or 1 of 4 symptoms + diagnosis by rapid molecular diagnostics	If CXR is not used for primary screening, then it should be used to complement rapid molecular diagnostics for diagnosis. A narrative review showed that TB prevalence is 1.8–9.5 times higher in people with diabetes as compared to the general population but in an Indian study, most patients in the diabetes clinics were already diagnosed. Further research is needed on this.
4.	Homeless persons	Screening by symptoms and CXR + diagnosis by rapid molecular diagnostics	Advisable to use one-stop opportunity for diagnosis and treatment. Difficult to link them to treatment. Hence, NGO involvement is crucial.

S. no	Population group	Algorithm for consideration	Remarks
5.	Migrants with occu- pational risks	Screening by symptoms + diagnosis by sputum microscopy and rapid molecular diagnostics	Studies from SEA show a high prevalence of symptoms (9–14%) in brick kiln workers who are internal migrants. (No other migrant groups are considered in the ACF studies.) Therefore, symptomatic screening alone might be sufficient in this group.
6.	Congregate settings	Screening by symptoms and CXR at entry (only symptoms for regular screening) + diagnosis by rapid molecular diagnostics	Prevalence in the SEA Region is based on Indian studies in Tibetan boarding schools. Prevalence will vary from one setting to the other. (Algorithm used is the same as in prison. Indian studies used CXR for secondary screening.)
7.	Children	Screening by symptoms, IGRA/TST + diagnosis by rapid molecular diagnostics and CXR	Children less than 15 years of age form a diverse group. Older children will be able to produce sputum. Under-5 children with severe malnutrition will have the lowest NNS. Unlike in adults, clinical assessment by a physician will be a critical component of the diagnosis of TB in children.
8.	Vulnerable populations	Screening by symptoms + diagnosis by SM (ideal is screening by CXR and diagnosis by Xpert)	Screening by any 1 of 4 symptoms and diagnosis by sputum microscopy was used in tribal populations, which gave a yield of 1.5%. Indigenous populations in Philippines also had a high prevalence of symptoms. In large sections of the population, CXR can be used, as in Cambodia and Philippines. Two weeks of cough and sputum microscopy seems to be a reasonable strategy for ederly in urban slums (Philippines) as well as for rural remote populations (Papua New Guinea).
9.	Elderly population	Symptoms and CXR + diagnosis by rapid molecular diagnostics	In the elderly, where prevalence was expected to be high (based on survey findings), CXR was used for initial screening in Cambodia. The Philippines study concluded that the combined use of CXR and rapid molecular diagnostics largely contributed to increased case detection. Both studies used <i>mobile vans</i> . Many studies used CXR for secondary screening, but this is known to not add substantially to the yield.

# References

- 1. World Health Organization. Systematic screening for active tuberculosis: principles and recommendations [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland; 2021. Available from: https://www.who. int/tb/tbscreening/en/ accessed on 15 June 2021
- World Health Organization. Recommendations for investigating the contacts of persons with infectious tuberculosis in low- and middle-income countrie [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland; 2012. Available from: https://www.who.int/tb/publications/2012/contact\_investigation2012/ en/ accessed on 16th October 2020
- World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2020 [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/329368/9789241565714eng.pdf?ua=1 accessed on 16th October, 2020
- Kak N, Chakraborty K, Sadaphal S, AlMossawi HJ, Calnan M, Vikarunnessa B. Strategic priorities for TB control in Bangladesh, Indonesia, and the Philippines – comparative analysis of national TB prevalence surveys. BMC Public Health. 2020 Apr 25;20(1):560.
- Nepal national TB prevalence survey brief: TB burden in Nepal. Kathmandu: Ministry of Health and Population; 2020 [Internet]. Available from: http://nepalntp.gov.np/wp-content/ uploads/2020/03/NEPAL-NATIONAL-TB-PREVALENCE-SURVEY-BRIEF-January-29-2020.pdf, accessed 11 October 2020
- Creswell J, Sahu S, Blok L, Bakker MI, Stevens R, Ditiu L. A multi-site evaluation of innovative approaches to increase tuberculosis case notification: summary results. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e94465.
- Yuen CM, Amanullah F, Dharmadhikari A, Nardell EA, Seddon JA, Vasilyeva I, et al. Turning off the tap: stopping tuberculosis transmission through active case-finding and prompt effective treatment. Lancet. 2015 Dec 5;386(10010):2334–43.
- Chadha VK, Praseeja P. Active tuberculosis case-finding in India The way forward. Indian J Tuberc. 2019 Jan;66(1):170–7.
- 9. Nishikiori N, Van Weezenbeek C. Target prioritization and strategy selection for active casefinding of pulmonary tuberculosis: a tool to support country-level project planning. BMC Public Health. 2013 Feb 2;13:97.
- 10. Stýblo K, Danková D, Drápela J, Galliová J, Jezek Z, Krivánek J, et al. Epidemiological and clinical study of tuberculosis in the district of Kolin, Czechoslovakia. Report for the first 4 years of the study (1961-64). Bull World Health Organ. 1967;37(6):819–74.
- 11. Fox GJ, Nhung N V, Sy DN, Hoa NLP, Anh LTN, Anh NT, et al. Household-contact investigation for detection of tuberculosis in Vietnam. N Engl J Med. 2018 Jan 18;378(3):221–9.
- 12. Morishita F, Eang MT, Nishikiori N, Yadav R-P. Increased case notification through active case-finding of tuberculosis among household and neighbourhood contacts in Cambodia. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0150405.

- 13. Yang J, Lee S, Oh S, Han S, Park SY, Kim Y, et al. The risk of active tuberculosis among individuals living in tuberculosis-affected households in the Republic of Korea, 2015. PLoS One. 2019;14(12):e0225744.
- 14. McAllister S, Wiem Lestari B, Sujatmiko B, Siregar A, Sihaloho ED, Fathania D, et al. Feasibility of two active case-finding approaches for detection of tuberculosis in Bandung City, Indonesia. Public Health Action. 2017 Sep 21;7(3):206–11.
- Khatana GH, Masoodi M, Amin M. Factors affecting applicability of "home-based interventional model" for active case-finding among household contacts of index cases of pulmonary tuberculosis in Kashmir. Indian J Tuberc. 2017 Jul;64(3):189–95.
- Nair D, Rajshekhar N, Klinton JS, Watson B, Velayutham B, Tripathy JP, et al. Household contact screening and yield of tuberculosis cases-a clinic based study in Chennai, South India. PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162090.
- Azit NA, Ismail A, Ahmad N, Ismail R, Ishak S. Factors associated with tuberculosis disease among children who are household contacts of tuberculosis cases in an urban setting in Malaysia. BMC Public Health. 2019 Nov 1;19(1):1432.
- Hoang TTT, Nguyen VN, Dinh NS, Thwaites G, Nguyen TA, van Doorn HR, et al. Active contact tracing beyond the household in multidrug resistant tuberculosis in Vietnam: a cohort study. BMC Public Health. 2019 Feb 28;19(1):241.
- 19. Chatla C, Jaju J, Achanta S, Samyuktha R, Chakramahanti S, Purad C, et al. Active case-finding of rifampicin sensitive and resistant TB among household contacts of drug resistant TB patients in Andhra Pradesh and Telangana states of India a systematic screening intervention. Indian J Tuberc. 2018 Jul;65(3):218–24.
- 20. Khaparde K, Jethani P, Dewan PK, Nair SA, Deshpande MR, Satyanarayana S, et al. Evaluation of TB case-finding through systematic contact investigation, Chhattisgarh, India. Tuberc Res Treat. 2015;2015:670167.
- 21. Al-Darraji HAA, Altice FL, Kamarulzaman A. Undiagnosed pulmonary tuberculosis among prisoners in Malaysia: an overlooked risk for tuberculosis in the community. Trop Med Int Health. 2016 Aug;21(8):1049–58.
- 22. Merid Y, Woldeamanuel Y, Abebe M, Datiko DG, Hailu T, Habtamu G, et al. High utility of active tuberculosis case-finding in an Ethiopian prison. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22(5):524–9.
- 23. Pelissari DM, Kuhleis DC, Bartholomay P, Barreira D, Oliveira CLP, de Jesus RS, et al. Prevalence and screening of active tuberculosis in a prison in the South of Brazil. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22(10):1166–71.
- 24. Wali A, Khan D, Safdar N, Shawani Z, Fatima R, Yaqoob A, et al. Prevalence of tuberculosis, HIV/AIDS, and hepatitis; in a prison of Balochistan: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Public Health. 2019 Dec 4;19(1):1631.
- 25. Prasad BM, Thapa B, Chadha SS, Das A, Babu ER, Mohanty S, et al. Status of tuberculosis services in Indian prisons. Int J Infect Dis. 2017 Mar;56:117–21.
- 26. Farhoudi B, SeyedAlinaghi S, Hosseini M, Pahlaviani FG, Firouzeh MM, Shahbazi M, et al. Prevalence of tuberculosis in a prison in Tehran by active case-finding. Infect Disord Drug Targets. 2019;19(2):167–70.
- 27. Morasert T, Worapas W, Kaewmahit R, Uphala W. Prevalence and risk factors associated with tuberculosis disease in Suratthani Central Prison, Thailand. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22(10):1203–9.

- Banu S, Rahman MT, Uddin MKM, Khatun R, Khan MSR, Rahman MM, et al. Effect of active case-finding on prevalence and transmission of pulmonary tuberculosis in Dhaka Central Jail, Bangladesh. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0124976.
- Jamal W, Azeemi K, Waqar M, Ikram K, Zaidi SMA, Habib S. Active case-finding for tuberculosis among prisoners in Karachi, Pakistan. In: Tuberculosis. European Respiratory Society; 2019. p. PA2954.
- Vinkeles Melchers NVS, van Elsland SL, Lange JMA, Borgdorff MW, van den Hombergh J. State of affairs of tuberculosis in prison facilities: a systematic review of screening practices and recommendations for best TB control. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e53644.
- Habib SS, Rafiq S, Jamal WZ, Ayub SM, Ferrand RA, Khan A, et al. Engagement of private healthcare providers for case-finding of tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus in Pakistan. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020 Apr 19;20(1):328.
- Basir MS, Habib SS, Zaidi SMA, Khowaja S, Hussain H, Ferrand RA, et al. Operationalization of bi-directional screening for tuberculosis and diabetes in private sector healthcare clinics in Karachi, Pakistan. BMC Health Serv Res. 2019 Mar 6;19(1):147.
- 33. Khanal S, Baral S, Shrestha P, Puri M, Kandel S, Lamichanne B, et al. Yield of intensified tuberculosis case-finding activities using Xpert(®) MTB/RIF among risk groups in Nepal. Public Health Action. 2016 Jun 21;6(2):136–41.
- Dolla C, Padmapriyadarsini C, Pradeep Menon A, Muniyandi M, Adinarayanan S, Sekar G, et al. Tuberculosis among the homeless in Chennai city, South India. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2017;111(10):479–81.
- 35. Thomas BE, Charles N, Watson B, Chandrasekaran V, Senthil Kumar R, Dhanalakshmi A, et al. Prevalence of chest symptoms amongst brick kiln migrant workers and care seeking behaviour: a study from South India. J Public Health (Oxf). 2015 Dec;37(4):590–6.
- 36. Shriraam V, Srihari R, Gayathri T, Murali L. Active case-finding for tuberculosis among migrant brick kiln workers in South India. Indian J Tuberc. 2020 Jan;67(1):38–42.
- Sanjel S, Khanal SN, Thygerson SM, Carter WS, Johnston JD, Joshi SK. Respiratory symptoms and illnesses related to the concentration of airborne particulate matter among brick kiln workers in Kathmandu valley, Nepal. Ann Occup Environ Med. 2017;29:9.
- Dorjee K, Topgyal S, Dorjee C, Tsundue T, Namdol T, Tsewang T, et al. High prevalence of active and latent tuberculosis in children and adolescents in Tibetan schools in India: The Zero TB Kids Initiative in Tibetan refugee children. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;69(5):760–8.
- Dierberg KL, Dorjee K, Salvo F, Cronin WA, Boddy J, Cirillo D, et al. Improved detection of tuberculosis and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis among Tibetan refugees, India. Emerg Infect Dis. 2016 Mar;22(3):463–8.
- 40. Park SY, Han S, Kim Y-M, Kim J, Lee S, Yang J, et al. Risk of active tuberculosis development in contacts exposed to infectious tuberculosis in congregate settings in Korea. Sci Rep. 2020 Jan 28;10(1):1306.
- Pathak RR, Mishra BK, Moonan PK, Nair SA, Kumar AM V, Gandhi MP, et al. Can intensified tuberculosis case-finding efforts at nutrition rehabilitation centers lead to pediatric case detection in Bihar, India? J Tuberc Res. 2016 Mar 30;4(1):46–54.
- 42. Joshi B, Chinnakali P, Shrestha A, Das M, Kumar AM V, Pant R, et al. Impact of intensified case-finding strategies on childhood TB case registration in Nepal. Public Health Action. 2015 Jun 21;5(2):93–8.

- 43. Malik AA, Amanullah F, Codlin AJ, Siddiqui S, Jaswal M, Ahmed JF, et al. Improving childhood tuberculosis detection and treatment through facility-based screening in rural Pakistan. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22(8):851–7.
- 44. Prasad BM, Satyanarayana S, Chadha SS, Das A, Thapa B, Mohanty S, et al. Experience of active tuberculosis case-finding in nearly 5 million households in India. Public Health Action. 2016 Mar 21;6(1):15–8.
- 45. Morishita F, Garfin AMCG, Lew W, Oh KH, Yadav R-P, Reston JC, et al. Bringing state-ofthe-art diagnostics to vulnerable populations: the use of a mobile screening unit in active case-finding for tuberculosis in Palawan, the Philippines. PLoS One. 2017;12(2):e0171310.
- 46. Shamanewadi AN, Naik PR, Thekkur P, Madhukumar S, Nirgude AS, Pavithra MB, et al. Enablers and challenges in the implementation of active case-findings in a selected district of Karnataka, south India: a qualitative study. Tuberc Res Treat. 2020;2020:9746329.
- 47. Usman M, Mushtaq MA, Shammon, Khan A. Tuberculin and sputum smear positivity among doctors and paramedics of a tertiary care hospital. Pakistan J Med Heal Sci. 2017;11:1469–71.
- 48. Prasad BM, Satyanarayana S, Chadha SS. Lessons learnt from active tuberculosis case-finding in an urban slum setting of Agra city, India. Indian J Tuberc. 2016 Jul;63(3):199–202.
- 49. Dey A, Thekkur P, Ghosh A, Dasgupta T, Bandopadhyay S, Lahiri A, et al. Active case-finding for tuberculosis through TOUCH agents in selected high TB burden wards of Kolkata, India: A mixed methods study on outcomes and implementation challenges. Trop Med Infect Dis. 2019 Nov 1;4(4).
- 50. Reddy KK, Ananthakrishnan R, Jacob AG, Das M, Isaakidis P, Kumar AM V. Intensified tuberculosis case-finding amongst vulnerable communities in southern India. Public Heal action. 2015 Dec 21;5(4):246–8.
- 51. Myint O, Saw S, Isaakidis P, Khogali M, Reid A, Hoa NB, et al. Active case-finding for tuberculosis by mobile teams in Myanmar: yield and treatment outcomes. Infect Dis Poverty. 2017 Jun 2;6(1):77.
- Aye S, Majumdar SS, Oo MM, Tripathy JP, Satyanarayana S, Kyaw NTT, et al. Evaluation of a tuberculosis active case-finding project in peri-urban areas, Myanmar: 2014–2016. Int J Infect Dis. 2018 May;70:93–100.
- 53. Vyas A, Creswell J, Codlin AJ, Stevens R, Rao VG, Kumar B, et al. Community-based active case-finding to reach the most vulnerable: tuberculosis in tribal areas of India. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2019;23(6):750–5.
- 54. Shewade HD, Gupta V, Ghule VH, Nayak S, Satyanarayana S, Dayal R, et al. Impact of advocacy, communication, social mobilization and active case-finding on TB notification in Jharkhand, India. J Epidemiol Glob Health. 2019;9(4):233–42.
- 55. Karki B, Kittel G, Bolokon I, Duke T. Active community-based case-finding for tuberculosis with limited resources. Asia-Pacific J Public Health. 2017 Jan;29(1):17–27.
- 56. Zhang C, Xia L, Rainey JJ, Li Y, Chen C, Rao Z, et al. Findings from a pilot project to assess the feasibility of active tuberculosis case-finding among seniors in rural Sichuan Province, China, 2017. PLoS One. 2019;14(3):e0214761.
- 57. Chen J-O, Qiu Y-B, Rueda ZV, Hou J-L, Lu K-Y, Chen L-P, et al. Role of community-based active case-finding in screening tuberculosis in Yunnan province of China. Infect Dis Poverty. 2019 Oct 29;8(1):92.

- Ali R, Khan M, Shah M, Arif D, Khan A, Becarra M, et al. A descriptive analysis of screening and treatment of tuberculosis in pregnant wormen in urban tertiary care hospitals in Pakistan. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2019;113:S203.
- 59. Chen C, Yang C-G, Gao X, Lu Z-Z, Tang F-X, Cheng J, et al. Community-based active casefinding for tuberculosis in rural western China: a cross-sectional study. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2017;21(11):1134–9.
- Camelique O, Scholtissen S, Dousset J-P, Bonnet M, Bastard M, Hewison C. Mobile communitybased active case-finding for tuberculosis among older populations in rural Cambodia. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2019;23(10):1107–14.
- Khan MA, Anil S, Ahmed M, Athar A, Ghafoor A, Brouwer M. Active case-finding of tuberculosis: randomized evaluation of simple and infotainment chest camps. Ann Glob Heal. 82(5):813–8.
- Kunwipakorn K, Chierakul N. Community active case-finding for pulmonary tuberculosis. Respirology. 2019 Nov 13;24(S2):30–30.
- 63. Ford D, Datta B, Prakash AK, Tripathy JP, Goyal P, Singh S, et al. Fifth year of a public–private partnership to improve the case detection of tuberculosis in India: a role model for future action? Indian J Tuberc. 2019 Oct;66(4):480–6.
- Datta B, Prakash AK, Ford D, Tanwar PK, Goyal P, Chatterjee P, et al. Comparison of clinical and cost-effectiveness of two strategies using mobile digital X-ray to detect pulmonary tuberculosis in rural India. BMC Public Health. 2019 Jan 22;19(1):99.
- Datta B, Prakash A, Ford D, Tripathy JP, Goyal P, Singh S, et al. Implementing upfront mobile digital chest x-ray for tuberculosis diagnosis in India – feasibility and benefits. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2020;114(7):499–505.
- 66. Vijayageetha M, Kumar AM, Ramakrishnan J, Sarkar S, Papa D, Mehta K, et al. Tuberculosis screening among pregnant women attending a tertiary care hospital in Puducherry, South India: is it worth the effort? Glob Health Action. 2019;12(1):1564488.
- Choun K, Decroo T, Mao TE, Lorent N, Gerstel L, Creswell J, et al. Performance of algorithms for tuberculosis active case-finding in underserved high-prevalence settings in Cambodia: a cross-sectional study. Glob Health Action. 2019;12(1):1646024.
- Liu K, Peng Y, Zhou Q, Cheng J, Yu H, Tang L, et al. Assessment of active tuberculosis findings in the eastern area of China: a 3-year sequential screening study. Int J Infect Dis. 2019 Nov;88:34–40.
- Mundra A, Kothekar P, Deshmukh PR, Dongre A. Why tuberculosis patients under revised national tuberculosis control programme delay in health-care seeking? A mixed-methods research from Wardha District, Maharashtra. Indian J Public Health. 63(2):94–100.
- Shewade HD, Gupta V, Satyanarayana S, Pandey P, Bajpai UN, Tripathy JP, et al. Patient characteristics, health seeking and delays among new sputum smear positive TB patients identified through active case-finding when compared to passive case-finding in India. PLoS One. 2019;14(3):e0213345.
- 71. Saunders MJ, Tovar MA, Collier D, Baldwin MR, Montoya R, Valencia TR, et al. Active and passive case-finding in tuberculosis-affected households in Peru: a 10-year prospective cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(5):519–28.
- 72. Shewade HD, Gupta V, Satyanarayana S, Kharate A, Sahai KN, Murali L, et al. Active casefinding among marginalised and vulnerable populations reduces catastrophic costs due to tuberculosis diagnosis. Glob Health Action. 2018;11(1):1494897.

- 73. Gurung SC, Dixit K, Rai B, Caws M, Paudel PR, Dhital R, et al. The role of active case-finding in reducing patient incurred catastrophic costs for tuberculosis in Nepal. Infect Dis Poverty. 2019 Dec 3;8(1):99.
- 74. Morishita F, Yadav R-P, Eang MT, Saint S, Nishikiori N. Mitigating financial burden of tuberculosis through active case-finding targeting household and neighbourhood contacts in Cambodia. PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162796.
- 75. Muniyandi M, Thomas BE, Karikalan N, Kannan T, Rajendran K, Dolla CK, et al. Catastrophic costs due to tuberculosis in South India: comparison between active and passive case-finding. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2020;114(3):185–92.
- 76. Wingfield T, Verguet S. Active case-finding in tuberculosis-affected households: time to scale up. Lancet Glob Health [Internet]. 2019;7(3):e296–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/30784625
- 77. Hussain H, Mori AT, Khan AJ, Khowaja S, Creswell J, Tylleskar T, et al. The cost-effectiveness of incentive-based active case-finding for tuberculosis (TB) control in the private sector Karachi, Pakistan. BMC Health Serv Res. 2019;19(1):690.
- 78. Shewade HD, Gupta V, Satyanarayana S, Kumar S, Pandey P, Bajpai UN, et al. Active versus passive case-finding for tuberculosis in marginalised and vulnerable populations in India: comparison of treatment outcomes. Glob Health Action. 2019;12(1):1656451.
- 79. Khaing PS, Kyaw NTT, Satyanarayana S, Oo NL, Aung TH, Oo HM, et al. Treatment outcome of tuberculosis patients detected using accelerated vs. passive case-finding in Myanmar. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22(10):1145–51.
- Codlin AJ, Monyrath C, Ky M, Gerstel L, Creswell J, Eang MT. Results from a roving, active casefinding initiative to improve tuberculosis detection among older people in rural Cambodia using the Xpert MTB/RIF assay and chest X-ray. J Clin Tuberc other Mycobact Dis. 2018 Dec;13:22–7.
- Singh M, Sagili KD, Tripathy JP, Kishore S, Bahurupi YA, Kumar A, et al. Are treatment outcomes of patients with tuberculosis detected by active case-finding different from those detected by passive case-finding? J Glob Infect Dis. 12(1):28–33.
- Cudahy PGT, Andrews JR, Bilinski A, Dowdy DW, Mathema B, Menzies NA, et al. Spatially targeted screening to reduce tuberculosis transmission in high-incidence settings. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(3):e89–95.
- 83. World Health Organization. MATCH: mapping and analysis for tailored disease control and health system strengthening [Internet]. Available from: https://www.who.int/tb/advisory\_bodies/impact\_measurement\_taskforce/meetings/tf7\_background\_5d\_match.pdf?ua=1 accessed on 16th October 2020
- 84. Maung HMW, Saw S, Isaakidis P, Khogali M, Reid A, Hoa NB, et al. The contribution of a nongovernmental organisation's community based tuberculosis care programme to case-finding in Myanmar: trend over time. Infect Dis Poverty. 2017 Apr 3;6(1):51.
- 85. Mani M, Riyaz M, Shaheena M, Vaithiyalingam S, Anand V, Selvaraj K, et al. Is it feasible to carry out active case-finding for tuberculosis in community-based settings? Lung India. 36(1):28–31.
- 86. Mugwagwa T, Stagg HR, Abubakar I, White PJ. Comparing different technologies for active TB case-finding among the homeless: a transmission-dynamic modelling study. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):1433.

- Rivera VR, Lu L, Ocheretina O, Jean Juste MA, Julma P, Archange D, et al. Diagnostic yield of active case-finding for tuberculosis at human immunodeficiency virus testing in Haiti. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2019;23(11):1217–22.
- 88. Chry M, Smelyanskaya M, Ky M, Codlin AJ, Cazabon D, Tan Eang M, et al. Can the high sensitivity of Xpert MTB/RIF Ultra be harnessed to save cartridge costs? Results from a pooled sputum evaluation in Cambodia. Trop Med Infect Dis. 2020 Feb 15;5(1).
- 89. Mhimbira FA, Cuevas LE, Dacombe R, Mkopi A, Sinclair D. Interventions to increase tuberculosis case detection at primary healthcare or community-level services. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;11:CD011432.
- Teo AKJ, Prem K, Tuot S, Ork C, Eng S, Pande T, et al. Mobilising community networks for early identification of tuberculosis and treatment initiation in Cambodia: an evaluation of a seed-and-recruit model. ERJ Open Res. 2020 Apr;6(2).
- 91. Tuot S, Teo AKJ, Cazabon D, Sok S, Ung M, Ly S, et al. Acceptability of active case-finding with a seed-and-recruit model to improve tuberculosis case detection and linkage to treatment in Cambodia: a qualitative study. PLoS One. 2019;14(7):e0210919.
- James R, Khim K, Boudarene L, Yoong J, Phalla C, Saint S, et al. Tuberculosis active case-finding in Cambodia: a pragmatic, cost-effectiveness comparison of three implementation models. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):580.
- 93. Teo AKJ, Prem K, Evdokimov K, Ork C, Eng S, Tuot S, et al. Effect of community active casefinding strategies for detection of tuberculosis in Cambodia: study protocol for a pragmatic cluster randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2020 Feb 24;21(1):220.
- Sohn H, Vyas A, Puri L, Gupta S, Qin ZZ, Codlin A, et al. Costs and operation management of community outreach program for tuberculosis in tribal populations in India. Public Health Action. 2019 Jun 21;9(2):58–62.
- 95. Jo Y, Mirzoeva F, Chry M, Qin ZZ, Codlin A, Bobokhojaev O, et al. Standardized framework for evaluating costs of active case-finding programs: an analysis of two programs in Cambodia and Tajikistan. PLoS One. 2020;15(1):e0228216.
- 96. Machekera SM, Wilkinson E, Hinderaker SG, Mabhala M, Zishiri C, Ncube RT, et al. A comparison of the yield and relative cost of active tuberculosis case-finding algorithms in Zimbabwe. Public Health Action. 2019 Jun 21;9(2):63–8.
- 97. Lung T, Marks GB, Nhung NV, Anh NT, Hoa NLP, Anh LTN, et al. Household contact investigation for the detection of tuberculosis in Vietnam: economic evaluation of a cluster-randomised trial. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7(3):e376–84.
- Van't Hoog AH, Onozaki I, Lonnroth K. Choosing algorithms for TB screening: a modelling study to compare yield, predictive value and diagnostic burden. BMC Infect Dis. 2014 Oct 19;14:532.
- 99. Fox GJ, Barry SE, Britton WJ, Marks GB. Contact investigation for tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Respir J. 2013 Jan;41(1):140–56.
- Borgdorff MW, Sebek M, Geskus RB, Kremer K, Kalisvaart N, van Soolingen D. The incubation period distribution of tuberculosis estimated with a molecular epidemiological approach. Int J Epidemiol. 2011 Aug;40(4):964–70.
- World Health Organization. Tuberculosis control in prisons : a manual for programme managers [Internet]. Geneva: Switzerland; 2000. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/66823 accessed on 16th October 2020

- Baussano I, Williams BG, Nunn P, Beggiato M, Fedeli U, Scano F. Tuberculosis incidence in prisons: a systematic review. PLoS Med. 2010 Dec 21;7(12):e1000381.
- 103. Stop TB Partnership. Strategies for effective case-finding in prisons and closed settings [Internet]. Geneva: Switzerland; 2018. Available from: https://stoptb-strategicinitiative.org/ elearning/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/STBFG\_02.pdf accessed on 16th October 2020
- 104. Zheng C, Hu M, Gao F. Diabetes and pulmonary tuberculosis: a global overview with special focus on the situation in Asian countries with high TB-DM burden. Glob Health Action. 2017;10(1):1–11.
- 105. The Union. Management of diabetes mellitus-tuberculosis: a guide to the essential practice [Internet]. Paris, France; 2019. (https://theunion.org/technical-publications/management-ofdiabetes-mellitus-tuberculosis-a-guide-to-the-essential-practice, accessed 16 October 2020)
- 106. India Diabetes Mellitus--Tuberculosis Study Group. Screening of patients with diabetes mellitus for tuberculosis in India. Trop Med Int Health. 2013 May;18(5):646–54.
- 107. Prakash BC, Ravish KS, Prabhakar B, Ranganath TS, Naik B, Satyanarayana S, et al. Tuberculosisdiabetes mellitus bidirectional screening at a tertiary care centre, South India. Public Health Action. 2013 Nov 4;3(Suppl 1):S18-22.
- 108. Homeless World Cup Foundation. Global homelessness statistics.
- 109. Figueroa-Munoz JI, Ramon-Pardo P. Tuberculosis control in vulnerable groups. Bull World Health Organ. 2008 Sep;86(9):733–5.
- Tschirhart N, Nosten F, Foster AM. Access to free or low-cost tuberculosis treatment for migrants and refugees along the Thailand–Myanmar border in Tak province, Thailand. Int J Equity Health. 2016;15(1):100.
- 111. Tschirhart N, Thi SS, Swe LL, Nosten F, Foster AM. Treating the invisible: gaps and opportunities for enhanced TB control along the Thailand–Myanmar border. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):29.
- 112. Noykhovich E, Mookherji S, Roess A. The risk of tuberculosis among populations living in slum settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Urban Health. 2019;96(2):262–75.
- 113. Ho J, Fox GJ, Marais BJ. Passive case-finding for tuberculosis is not enough. Int J Mycobacterio. 2016;5(4):374–8.
- 114. Cavalcante SC, Durovni B, Barnes GL, Souza FBA, Silva RF, Barroso PF, et al. Communityrandomized trial of enhanced DOTS for tuberculosis control in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2010 Feb;14(2):203–9.
- 115. Ayles H, Muyoyeta M, Du Toit E, Schaap A, Floyd S, Simwinga M, et al. Effect of household and community interventions on the burden of tuberculosis in southern Africa: the ZAMSTAR community-randomised trial. Lancet (London, England). 2013 Oct 5;382(9899):1183–94.
- 116. Azman AS, Golub JE, Dowdy DW. How much is tuberculosis screening worth? Estimating the value of active case-finding for tuberculosis in South Africa, China, and India. BMC Med. 2014 Oct 30;12:216.
- 117. Dowdy DW, Lotia I, Azman AS, Creswell J, Sahu S, Khan AJ. Population-level impact of active tuberculosis case-finding in an Asian megacity. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e77517.

The WHO South-East Region in 2019 accounted for nearly a million missing TB patients from the estimated incidence. Active case-finding (ACF) or systematic screening for tuberculosis is an important tool to reach out to missing TB patients. When appropriately implemented, the activity is cost effective, helps to reduce diagnosis and treatment delays, and prevents the spread of the disease. This document presents an analysis of published ACF studies from the Region. It can be used by Member States for effective planning, implementation and monitoring of these activities.



